UNIVERSITY OF OKLAHOMA

GRADUATE COLLEGE

ANNEXIN A5 – CHLORAMBUCIL: A TARGETED THERAPEUTIC DRUG AGAINST LEUKEMIA AND BREAST CANCER

A THESIS

SUBMITTED TO THE GRADUATE FACULTY

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

By

CHARLES P. BAGARIE Norman, Oklahoma 2018

ANNEXIN A5 – CHLORAMBUCIL: A TARGETED THERAPEUTIC DRUG

AGAINST LEUKEMIA AND BREAST CANCER

A THESIS APPROVED FOR THE STEPHENSON SCHOOL OF BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING

BY

Dr. Roger G. Harrison, Chair

Dr. Matthias U. Nollert

Dr. Vassilios I. Sikavitsas

© Copyright by CHARLES P. BAGARIE 2018 All Rights Reserved. For my mom.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my committee, Dr. Vassilios Sikavitsas, Dr. Matthias Nollert and especially Dr. Roger Harrison, my advisor, for providing me the opportunity to do my master's thesis in biomedical engineering at the University of Oklahoma and for his support, guidance and invaluable experience. Working with him has given me an invaluable amount of knowledge and skills that will help propel me throughout my career.

I am also grateful to my colleagues in the Harrison Laboratory and interns who helped me during the project by giving assistance and supplying information, specifically Dr. Patrick McKernan but also several undergraduate students who were always present to help, Karli Thornton, Jaimin Patel and Richard Ho.

I would specifically like to thank Pamela Meek and Shayla Palmer for their significant assistance.

I wish to express my gratitude to Polytech Clermont-Ferrand to give me the opportunity to do a dual-degree at the University of Oklahoma and specifically Dr. Roche and Dr. Larroche for their trust and support.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
LIST OF TABLES	VIII
LIST OF FIGURES	IX
ABSTRACT	XI
INTRODUCTION	1
CANCER	1
Breast Cancer	
Leukemia	
THERAPIES	5
Non-targeting and targeting treatments	5
Phosphatidylserine	
Chlorambucil	9
Annexin A5	
CONJUGATION FOR A TARGETED THERAPY	
Conjugation with chlorambucil	14
EDC/NHS conjugation method	
SCOPE OF THESIS	
Hypothesis	
1 st Objective: Conjugation of the annexin A5 with chlorambucil	
2 nd Objective: In vitro studies on leukemia and breast cancer	
3 rd Objective: In vivo studies on leukemia and breast cancer	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Materials	
Methods	
Recombinant Bacteria	

Protein Production	
Conjugation Between annexin A5 and chlorambucil	
Quantity of chlorambucil per annexin A5	
In vitro experiments: Breast cancer cell line and culture conditions	
In vitro experiments: Leukemia cell line and culture conditions	
In vitro experiments: Cytotoxicity studies on cancer cell lines	
In vivo experiments: 4T1 breast cancer cell line	
In vivo experiments: Leukemia cell line	
In vivo mice number	
Statistical analysis	
RESULTS	33
RESULTS OF THE SDS-PAGE	
RESULTS OF THE DETERMINATION OF THE CONCENTRATION OF CHLORAMBUCIL	
IN VITRO RESULTS OF CYTOTOXICITY ASSAYS	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on EMT6 breast cancer cell line	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on 4T1 mammary cancer cell line	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on L1210 leukemia cell line	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on L1210 resistant leukemia cell line	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on P388 lymphoma cancer cell line	
Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assays	
RESULTS OF THE IN VITRO VISUALIZATION	
Results of 4T1 in vivo experiments	
RESULTS OF L1210 IN VIVO EXPERIMENTS	51
DISCUSSION	53
CONCLUSION	56
Future Directions	57
BIBLIOGRAPHY	61

APPENDIX A: CHLORAMBUCIL-ANNEXIN CONJUGATE	76
SYNTHESIS OF ANXA5-CHL	80
SYNTHESIS OF ANXA5-CHL	82
SPECTROSCOPY OF CHLORAMBUCIL	83

List of Tables

TABLE 1: SUMMARY OF MICE USED DURING IN	VIVO STUDIES
---	--------------

List of Figures

FIGURE 1: STRUCTURE OF THE PHOSPHATIDYLSERINE
FIGURE 2: SEMI-STRUCTURAL REPRESENTATION OF THE MOLECULE OF CHLORAMBUCIL OR LEUKERAN 10
Figure 3: Photoactivation of chlorambucil into $3-\{4-[Bis(2-chloroethyl) amino] Phenyl\}$
PROPYL-ISOCYANATE
FIGURE 4: STRUCTURE OF HOMO SAPIENS ANNEXIN A5. STRUCTURE MADE OF ALPHA-HELICES AND BETA
SHEET
FIGURE 5: SECONDARY STRUCTURE OF HOMO SAPIENS ANNEXIN A5, INDICATING HELIXES, TURNS, AND
BETA STRANDS
FIGURE 6: SCHEME OF THE REACTION OF THE CONJUGATION BETWEEN A CARBOXYLIC ACID MOLECULE (1)
AND A PRIMARY AMINE MOLECULE (2) WITH EDC WITH OR WITHOUT SULFO-NHS. THE MOLECULES
CAN BE PROTEINS, CHEMICALS OR PEPTIDES
FIGURE 7: AMINO ACIDS OF THE HUMAN ANNEXIN A5. IN YELLOW, THE AMINO ACIDS ARE INDICATED
THAT CAN POSSIBLY HAVE A PRIMARY AMINE ABLE TO BIND THE CHLORAMBUCIL MOLECULE WITH
THE EDC/NHS CHEMISTRY
FIGURE 8: SDS-PAGE GEL ELECTROPHORESIS OF ANNEXIN A5 (LEFT) AND TWO DIFFERENT BATCHES OF
THE CONJUGATE (MIDDLE & RIGHT) WITH TWO PROTEIN MARKER LADDERS (M) WITH THE INDICATED
MOLECULAR MASSES IN KDA. THE ANXA5 HAS A MOLECULAR WEIGHT AROUND 36 kDa confirmed
by the bibliography. The conjugate has a molecular weight around 38 to 40 kDa,
INDICATING THAT THE CONJUGATE IS HEAVIER THAN THE ANX5A
FIGURE 9: STANDARD CURVE OF THE DETERMINATION OF THE QUANTITY OF CHLORAMBUCIL IN A
SOLUTION BY SPECTROACTIVATION
FIGURE 10: CYTOTOXICITY ASSAY ON A 96 PLATE-WELLS OF EMT6 BREAST CANCER CELL LINE AND THE
CONJUGATE ANNEXIN A5-CHLORAMBUCIL (ANXA5-CHL) AND FREE CHLORAMBUCIL
Figure 11: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of $4T1$ breast cancer cell line and the
CONJUGATE ANNEXIN A5-CHLORAMBUCIL (ANXA5-CHL) AND FREE CHLORAMBUCIL
Figure 12: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of $L1210$ leukemia cell line and the
CONJUGATE ANNEXIN A5-CHLORAMBUCIL (ANXA5-CHL) AND FREE CHLORAMBUCIL

Figure 13: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of L1210 resistant leukemia cell line and
THE CONJUGATE ANNEXIN A5-CHLORAMBUCIL (ANXA5-CHL) AND FREE CHLORAMBUCIL
Figure 14: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of P388 Lymphoma cell line and the
CONJUGATE ANNEXIN A5-CHLORAMBUCIL (ANXA5-CHL) AND FREE CHLORAMBUCIL
Figure 15: Pictures of $4T1$ cells under fluorescence microscope showing $4T1$ cells (A and B)
AND IN VITRO BINDING SPECIFICITY ANXA5-CHL ON THE CELL (C)
Figure 16: Picture of L1210 cell (Red) and ANXA5-CHL (green) observed under a fluorescent
MICROSCOPE AFTER PHOTOACTIVATION OF THE CHLORAMBUCIL UNDER UV $(x100)$ (A) or only
ANXA5-CHL (GREEN) (B)
FIGURE 17: ANTITUMOR EFFECT OF ANXA5-CHL AND CHLORAMBUCIL AGAINST $4T1$ tumors on the
MAMMARY FAT PAD NUMBER FOUR OF BALB/C MICE
Figure 18: Long term survival study of BALB/c mice with 4T1 breast cancer cells treated
WITH THE CONJUGATE, FREE CHLORAMBUCIL OR SALINE SOLUTION
FIGURE 19: MINIMAL EFFECT OF ANXA5-CHL ON 4T1 BREAST CANCER MOUSE WEIGHT
Figure 20: Long term survival study of DBA mice with $L1210$ leukemia treated with the
CONJUGATE, FREE CHLORAMBUCIL, OR SALINE SOLUTION
FIGURE 21: CHLORAMBUCIL ABSORBANCE
FIGURE 22: ABSORPTION SPECTROSCOPIC DETECTION OF CHL

Abstract

Breast cancer is the most common cancer in women worldwide and its incidence is increasing, particularly in developing countries. The survival rate of early stage breast cancer is 80% but falls to 24% for breast cancers diagnosed at a more advanced stage. Leukemia is a cancer that begins in the bone marrow and results in abnormal white blood cells or leukemia cells. The five-year survival rate is only 57% in the US. Current therapies affect every cell, healthy or not, and generate physical and psychological consequences in the patient.

Our approach is to target breast cancer cells and leukemia cells with a protein, annexin A5, and kill them specifically with an anti-cancer drug. Annexin A5 binds to phosphatidylserine, a marker of cancer cells expressed on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane. Chlorambucil, or Leukeran (4-[bis(2-chlorethyl) amino] benzenebutanoic acid) is a drug used in chemotherapy treatment to treat leukemia; several molecules of this alkylating agent are linked by their carboxylic functional groups to primary amines of the protein by EDC (1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl) carbodiimide).

The mass of the conjugate was compared to the mass of annexin A5, and the quantity of chlorambucil on the protein has been determined. In vitro cytotoxicity assays were made on two breast cancer cell types, EMT6 and 4T1, and two leukemia cell types, L1210 and P388. The cytotoxicity of the conjugate was compared to the cytotoxicity of chlorambucil alone, showing a significant improvement with a LD50 (median lethal dose or amount of the substance required to kill 50% of the cells) 10 or 100-fold times less than the free chlorambucil. In vivo experiments have been made with 4T1 and L1210 cells on BALB/c mice, and the survival and physiologic measurements were made. The results showed that the conjugate increased the survival time in both cancers.

Introduction

In 2015, 90.5 million people had cancer and 14.1 million new cases occur every year. Breast cancer is the 7th leading cause of death in women, creating a tumor with a possibility to metastasize causing 90% of solid tumor cancer death. Leukemia is the most common type of cancer in children with a very low rate survival.

Today, different kinds of treatments are able to treat cancers, and non-targeted therapies are one of them. Targeted therapies are developed to focus on a component only present on cancer cells and kill them without killing healthy cells, therefore reducing side effects. Our idea is to select cancer cells by the molecule expressed on their surfaces by conjugating a protein with an alkylating agent to kill them.

Cancer

With more than 100 different types of cancer that affect humans, each year cancer is responsible of 15.7% of deaths worldwide¹. Colorectal, breast and lung cancer are the most common type of cancer in females. In children, acute lymphoblastic leukemia and brain tumors are the most common². The risk of cancer increases significantly with age. Chemical, mechanical, and environmental factors are responsible for 90% of cancer cases, and inherited genes only 10% ³. In 2010, the financial cost of cancer was estimated at \$1.2 trillion USD².

Six biological capabilities are required by the cell to form a malignant tumor and constitute the hallmarks of cancer: sustaining proliferative signaling, resisting cell death, evading growth suppressors, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis. Moreover, two emergent hallmarks are appearing: reprogramming of energy metabolism and evading immune destruction⁴.

The genome controls the life cycle of the cell, and several checkpoints are dispatched through the life of the cell to assure the integrity of the DNA, the proper chromosome duplication and the attachment of the kinetochore to a spindle fiber during mitosis. Checkpoints examine internal and external cues and determine whether to move forward or not. Two central control nodes, RB (retinoblastoma associated) and TP53, regulate the cell and make the decision to let the cell proliferate or activate the apoptotic program. RB protein transmits growth inhibitory signals from an indicator outside of the cell. TP53, or "the guardian of the genome", transduces signals from stress within the intracellular operating system and can stop the cell-cycle progression to allow repairs or trigger apoptosis if damages are too significant^{4,5}. A mutation into genes related to these two gatekeepers is common among multiple tumors and can lead to uncontrollable growth. Those several steps, known as malignant progression, will change a normal cell into a cancer cell⁴.

The disease is due to the continuous division of cells in their environment with possibilities of metastasis, a step where cells are spreading and inducing tumors everywhere in the body^{1,6}. This last step is responsible for 90% of death caused by cancer⁷. Cancer cells spread through the body by invading nearby normal tissue, moving through the walls of blood vessels or lymph nodes and travelling through the lymphatic system or the blood stream, stopping in small blood vessels and moving into surrounding tissue, and growing into this tissue until a tumor forms inducing new blood vessels to grow allowing the tumor to continue growing⁸. The phenomenon known as anoikis programs cell death when cells detach from the extracellular matrix (ECM) and is essential to put the cell in their correct anatomical location. During the metastasis, cells develop a resistance to anoikis and inhibit the activation of both death receptors and

mitochondrial pathways⁹. Cells go through an epithelial-mesenchymal transition, or EMT (changes in cell polarity, cell invasive and migratory property and cell-to-cell and cell-to-matrix adhesion), and become undifferentiated, isolated, and mesenchymal cells. Mutation is responsible for down regulation of E-cadherin, a protein responsible for the attachments on the ECM and up-regulation of N-cadherin, inducing a better movement through walls. They have new properties of invasion and migration and can survive detached from the ECM and reach new tissues through the blood or the lymph stream¹⁰.

Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is the 3rd leading cause of death worldwide for females between 50-59 years old, and the number will increase in the next few years. Soon 1 in 8 women will be diagnosed with breast cancer^{11,12}. An epidemiology study shows that the incidence of breast cancer is greatest in the more developed countries and lowest in the least developed countries¹³.

Between 5 and 10% of breast cancer is due to gene inheritance, obesity, older age, and drinking alcohol¹⁴. Improvement of new treatment decreases the number of deaths, and today a patient with a breast cancer detected in its early stage has a five-year survival rate of 93%¹⁵.

Breast cancer starts when cells in the breast grow out of control and form a tumor, most frequently in milk ducts or lobules¹⁴. More than 80% of breast cancer is discovered due to the first typical symptom: a lump in the breast which feels different during a palpation than the rest of the breast¹⁶. Occasionally the cancer can invade surrounding tissues and/or metastasizes¹⁷. Breast cancer can be treated by local and systemic treatments such as surgery, chemotherapy, hormonal therapy, targeted therapy and radiation therapy¹⁴.

Leukemia

Known as the most common type of cancer in children, leukemia affected 2.3 million people in the world in 2015 and caused 354 000 deaths. The five-year survival is between 60 and 85% in children under 15, depending on the type of leukemia and the patient. However, in the US, in total, the average five-year rate survival is 57%². Moreover, like breast cancer, leukemia occurs more in developed countries².

Exact causes are unknown, but it's a combination of inherited and environmental factors, the most common being smoking, some chemicals, chemotherapy, and down syndrome¹⁸. The bone marrow is the place where the stem cells of blood cells are made. When leukemia occurs, the number of red blood cells decreases at the expense of abnormal white blood cells called leukemia cells¹⁹. The cells are non-adherent and don't form a tumor, and they spread everywhere in the body by the blood and lymphoid stream. Because of the lack of red blood cells and abnormal white blood cells different symptoms occur, such as feeling tired, bruising, bleeding, fever, and increased risk for infections²⁰.

Four types of leukemia are known: Acute myeloid leukemia (AML), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), acute lymphocytic leukemia (ALL) and chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)².

In acute leukemia, which means that it progresses quickly, bone marrow cells cannot evolve the way they should and stay immature, which causes death in only few months. However, many patients can be cured. In chronic leukemia (CL), cells are more mature, but not completely, and are less effective to fight infection than mature white blood cells. People with CML can live longer than acute leukemia, but it is harder to $cure^{21-24}$. Lymphocytic, or lymphoid, leukemia is induced by a problem in the progenitor of lymphocytes B or $T^{21,25,26}$. If cancer cells are in the bone marrow and blood, the cancer

is a lymphocytic leukemia; however if the cancer cells tends to be in other tissues like lymph nodes they are lymphomas²¹. Lymphomas can be two kinds: Hodgkin and non-Hodgkin lymphomas.

Hodgkin lymphomas start in B lymphocytes and turn into Reed-Sternberg cells, which are large, malignant, mature B cells. Non-Hodgkin lymphomas don't have Reed-Sternberg cells and can start both in B or T lymphocytes. Lymphomas and leukemia belong to the group of tumors of the hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues^{27–30}.

Chemotherapy, radiation therapy, bone marrow transplants and targeted therapy are treatments commonly used. The success depends on the age of the patient and the type of leukemia^{31–34}.

Therapies

Non-targeting and targeting treatments

To treat cancer, cancer cells must be killed faster than they replicate. Several treatments exist and are adapted to each case: surgery, radiation therapy, chemotherapy, immunotherapy, targeted therapy, hormone therapy, stem cell transplant and precision medicine³⁵. Surgery is used to physically remove a solid tumor from the body, and a second treatment must be taken to kill remnant cancer cells. Chemotherapy and radiation therapy are not specifically aimed against cancer cells but against every cell in their pathway. Because healthy cells are also dying, side effects appear like fatigue, nausea, hair loss, and mood changes³⁶.

Passive targeting exists when nanoparticles like a drug or a protein accumulate in a tumor because of the enhanced permeability and retention in this tissue (EPR). EPR depends not only on the particle size but also on the impaired lymphatic drainage and leaky vasculature^{37,38}. In effect, macromolecules around 40 kDa tends to accumulate in

neoplastic tissues after an intravenous administration because this range size is above the renal threshold^{39–41}. When tumors grow up, they rapidly need vasculature to bring nutrients and oxygen to the cells. A tumor larger than 2 to 3 mm³ will release angiogenic factors and the imbalance with matrix metalloproteinase (MMPs) within the neoplastic tissue will create new disorganized blood vessels allowing nanoparticles with a diameter superior to 600nm to penetrate into the tumor^{42,43}. These new vessels are made rapidly, and a lack of tight junctions between endothelial cells results in a leaky and permeable vessel⁴⁴.

Immunotherapy and targeted therapy target only cancer cells. The first therapy is a type of biological therapy using certain components of the immune system of the patient to kill cancer cells. Targeted therapy can use antibodies, small molecules, or proteins to avoid harming normal cells.

Phosphatidylserine

Cells naturally have a membrane made of phospholipids, molecules with two hydrophobic tails and a hydrophilic head. Phosphatidylserine is the most abundant phospholipid negatively charged in membrane of eukaryotic cells. Discovered in the 40's by Folk et al., phosphatidylserine has a central glycerol where two fatty acids are attached on the first and the second carbon of glycerol by an ester linkage, and a serine is attached on the third carbon by a phosphodiester linkage as we can see on Figure 1.



Figure 1: Structure of the phosphatidylserine

Between cell types and organelles, saturated fatty acids will differ to create a different phosphatidylserine⁴⁵.

A healthy cell will keep negatively charged amino-phospholipids like phosphatidylserine (PS) and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) to the cytosolic face, while the cytoplasmic face has phosphatidylcholine (PC) and sphingomyelin. Lipids are exposed to the intracellular side due to an enzyme, the flippase, inhibited by the presence of calcium^{46,47}. Flippase transports lipids like PE or PS from the exoplasmic to the cytoplasmic face while the floppase does it in the reverse direction. These two enzymes are ATP-dependent and uni-directional, and their activities balance the membrane composition and create a symmetric membrane. A third enzyme, the scramblase, which is energy-independent and bidirectional, can quickly modify the equilibration and exposes lipids on one face of the membrane^{48–50}. The concentration of calcium inside a healthy cell is very low. A domain calcium dependent, named EF-hand-like Ca²⁺ binding domain, will activate the scramblase when the concentration of calcium intracellularly is high, signaling a problem. The activated scramblase transports lipids including PS to the outer leaflets. These three different types of enzymatic groups of phospholipid transportation can be found in every eukaryotic cell.

When the phosphatidylserine flips to the extracellular surface, it can play a role in the coagulation cascade by activating the several clotting factors. Moreover, when a cell undergoes programmed death, phosphatidylserine molecules are extracellularly exposed, and it's one of the earliest indicators of apoptosis. In effect, an oxidative stress causes exposure of phosphatidylserine on the outer membrane due to the activity of the scramblase calcium dependant^{51–54}. This stress can come from cancer development, and cancer cells will expose phosphatidylserine. Today this molecule is widely used as a marker for tumors⁵⁵.

Phosphatidylserine is one element responsible for the structural integrity of the cell membrane and plays two major roles in the coagulation and cell signaling. Because an injury will induce stress to the cells, phosphatidylserine on the surface of activated platelets will be expressed. It serves as a pro-coagulant surface by orienting tissue factor (TF) and factor VII, responsible of the clotting⁵⁶.

Moreover, when phosphatidylserine is expressed on the outer surface of apoptotic cells due to the activity of scramblase, the cell sends an "engulf me" message to macrophages⁵¹. Macrophages can respond to three different messages: "find me", "engulf me" and "eat me"⁵⁷. The first message is made of cytokines and chemokines released in the environment by apoptotic cells. The macrophages will try to find the source of these molecules by following the gradient. The second signal is expressed by apoptotic cells, increasing by 300-fold the concentration of PS on the outer membrane, and macrophages will kill these cells by phagocytosis⁵⁸. However, the opposite signal exists too, the "don't eat me" signal. In effect, cancer cells have found a way to avoid being killed by

macrophages. For example, CD47 is a protein expressed and a signal to the macrophages that the cell is healthy and does not need to be eaten. Other proteins and molecules exist and trick macrophages like CD31 or CD300A^{57,59,60}. "Engulf me" is the last signal, expressed by apoptotic cells to avoid an immune response and kills targeted cells with precision.

Chlorambucil

During World War I, after soldiers were exposed to mustard gas, a physician discovered that the number of white blood cells had decreased significantly. The active ingredient in the mustard gas is due to the use of sulfur on the molecule. By reducing the toxicity by exchanging sulfur for nitrogen atoms, they were able to create a new chemotherapeutic drug. However, it was only in the 1950s that Everett et al. synthetized Leukeran or chlorambucil (CHL). With a less toxic alkylating agent, the molecule is able to react with the DNA slowly and kill cancer cells⁶¹.

Chlorambucil (4-[bis(2-chlorethyl)amino]benzenebutanoic acid) is listed in the World Health Organization List of Essential Medicines⁶². It's an alkylating and antineoplastic agent of 304.2 g/mol, working by blocking the formation of DNA and RNA. The drug is used to treat Hodgkin lymphoma and non-Hodgkin lymphoma and is a preferred treatment for chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL)⁶³.

The molecule has one carboxylic function linked to an aromatic ring and a tail with a tertiary amine linked to two chloride. Due to the small electronegativity difference between C and H, the aromatic ring does not have polarity and induces a high hydrophobicity of the molecule increased by the four atoms of carbon linked to it (Figure 2)⁶⁴. The alkylating agent has an appearance of a white crystalline powder and a melting point at 65°C. The water solubility of the drug is less than 0.1 mg/mL at pH 7 and 25°C

but soluble in an acidic environment⁶⁵. The aromatic ring is also a good reactant to energy in the form of photons, creating a molecule sensitive to light or heat⁶⁶.



Figure 2: Semi-structural representation of the molecule of chlorambucil or Leukeran

Chlorambucil, by its property of light sensitivity, can be quantitatively measured in a solution. In effect, with a presence of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and ultraviolet light at 358 nm (ultraviolet range between 1 - 400 nm), chlorambucil is photoactivated, and the tail with the tertiary amine and 2-chlorethyl reacts with the DMSO. The two chlorides are replaced by the sulfoxide, and a ring forms a fluorescent component at 434 nm⁶⁷, the isocyanate of chlorambucil or $3-\{4-[bis(2-chloroethyl)amino]phenyl\}$ propylisocyanate.



Figure 3: Photoactivation of chlorambucil into 3-{4-[bis(2-chloroethyl) amino] phenyl} propyl-isocyanate

The drug is supposed to be taken by mouth, go through the digestive system and reach the blood. The molecule will reach the tumor by the blood stream and enter into each cell that it meets. The small molecule will penetrate in the nucleus and by a reaction of substitution, the two chlorine atoms (electrophilic sites) will react with the two azote atoms belonging to guanine in DNA or RNA and form two covalent adducts^{63,68}. The two bases are linked together, and chlorambucil acts like a locker by forming interstrand cross-links in both DNA and RNA. They cannot be opened for transcriptions or translations, and the alkylating agent induces the death of the cell. The peak of the highest concentration is reached 1 hour after swallowing the pill, and the drug has a half-life between 40 and 110 minutes. The molecule is quickly metabolized in the liver in ester of phenylacetic acid, a highly active agent with a half-life twice as high as the chlorambucil. The drug is eliminated by 60 % in 24 hours through the urine^{69,70,70–72}.

A study of the effect of chlorambucil on HeLa cells showed that after 1 hour of treatment, cells were unable to divide but they were producing RNA, protein, and DNA. If cells are treated during the G1 phase, the S phase is longer and accompanied with a mitotic delay. Treatment during the G2 phase inhibits the DNA synthesis and delays the mitosis⁷³.

Nitrogen mustard plays an important role in modern chemotherapy, and chlorambucil, because of its two alkylating functions, is one of the most effective alkylating agents. A half-mustard analogue with just one alkylating agent is less effective to break chromosomes and cannot form interstrand cross-links. The major mutations induced by chlorambucil are deletions, and the molecule is more effective as an antitumor agent by forming a lot of interstrand cross-links⁷⁴. This effectiveness leads to multiple breaks and mitosis pulverizations, in cultivated cells from hamster cell line V79 according to Speit et al.⁷⁵.

Moreover, chlorambucil is used in several studies to reach the nucleus by penetrating the nucleoplasm and study chromosome aberrations in rats or mice⁷⁶. The pH

also plays a role in the cytotoxicity of the chlorambucil. Chlorambucil is a weak acid, and we see its cytotoxicity increased into a neutral intracellular compartment due to the ionization of the weak acidic function favorizing drug uptake. An intracellular acidification alters the distribution of the alkylating agent by reducing the pH gradient across the cell membrane. The cytotoxicity of chlorambucil is reduced in response to intracellular acidification⁷⁷.

The more common side effects are nausea, vomiting and change in menstrual periods. These side effects do not need medical attention and are due to the non-targeted treatment⁶³.

Annexin A5

With a weight of 36 kDa (kilo Dalton), annexin A5 is a protein which belongs to the annexin A5 super-gene group, a protein which is mostly found in eukaryotic organisms and can be found inside or outside the cell. Its subcellular locations are the cytoplasm, the extracellular and intracellular region, and the cytosol⁷⁸. The protein is a non-glycosylated single chain protein. The 3-dimensional structure of annexin A5 is shown in Figure 4. The secondary structure of the protein is illustrated in Figure 5.



Figure 4: Structure of Homo Sapiens annexin A5. Structure made of alpha-helices and beta sheet.

Source: https://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/P08758



Figure 5: Secondary structure of Homo sapiens annexin A5, indicating helixes, turns, and beta strands.

Source : <u>https://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/P08758</u>

The precise function of the protein is unknown; however, a hypothesis by scientists is that annexin A5 plays a role in the inhibition of blood coagulation by inhibiting phospholipase A1 and binding to phosphatidylserine binding site and competing with prothrombin. Then the prothrombin cannot be proteolytically cleaved to form thrombin in the clotting process. Thrombin converts fibrinogen into insoluble strands of fibrin; without thrombin the blood coagulation is inhibited.

Currently ANXA5 (annexin A5) is used in flow-cytometry; its ability to bind to phosphatidylserines is used to detect apoptosis, cancer cells and tumor vasculatures^{55,79,80}. When exposed in the same environment with phosphatidylserine and calcium Ca²⁺, the protein can bind to the PS by its convex part on the core. The core is made of alphahelices, four domains contained in the C-terminal of the protein chain. The annexin A5-core has a calcium binding site, so calcium is necessary to bind to PS, and the ANXA5, rather than a monomer, will form a trimer. It has been demonstrated recently that annexin A5 is internalized in cells by a pinocytic pathway⁸¹. An annexin A5 protein network bonds the membrane patch nanomechanically into the cell and elicits budding, endocytic vesicle formation, and cytoskeleton-dependent trafficking of the endocytic vesicle. This finding has opened new avenues for targeted drug delivery and cell entry.

Conjugation for a targeted therapy

Conjugation with chlorambucil

Chlorambucil is originally a non-selective anti-cancer drug. Its action is directed against all rapidly dividing cells including cancer cells but also those of the normal hemopoietic tissues, gonads, and mucous membranes of the gastrointestinal tracts⁸². Moreover, Israel and Linford showed that the chlorambucil can bind without losing its alkylating activity, and its adsorption is increased by the presence of the chloroethyl group in the drug molecule⁸³.

Several experiments have successfully conjugated chlorambucil to antibodies or proteins to try to decrease the side effect of the chemotherapeutic treatment. Antibodies have been shown to have a destructive effect on cancer cells but are not therapeutically effective. Conjugated to a chemotherapeutic or cytotoxic drug, immunoglobulins can be therapeutically effective and several are now in late-phase clinical testing⁸⁴. Promising results are appearing when chlorambucil is conjugated to an immunoglobulin⁸⁵. Especially to treat some forms of leukemia like Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL), the association of chlorambucil with Rituximab, a CD20 targeted monoclonal antibody, is effective to improve considerably the survival of young patients⁸⁶. Moreover, Obinutuzumab, another CD20 targeted monoclonal antibody appears to be more effective on the majority of CLL patients, usually older⁸⁷. T. Ghose et al. showed that conjugated to chlorambucil, an immunoglobulin could increase mice survival for more than 200 days without developing any tumors on BALB/c mice with Erlich ascites carcinoma⁸⁸. Moreover, conjugated to secreted immunoglobulin M or IgM of lymphoblastoid cells lines, chlorambucil selectively killed lymphoblastoid cells and caused cytolysis faster than the immunoglobulin or drug alone⁸⁹. Against melanoma, the heterologous antibody against the mouse EL4 lymphoma conjugated with chlorambucil is also promising and more effective than the drug or antibody alone to inhibit the tumor⁹⁰.

To target breast cancer, the most common non-cutaneous cancer in women, molecules of chlorambucil can be bound to another amino-acid, L-methionine. Because the uptake of polyamine compounds is increased in breast cancer cells, a conjugation between methionine and chlorambucil led to a majority of the killed cells being cancerous ones. The conjugate shows better anticancer effect with less toxicity in comparison with free chlorambucil⁹¹. Spermidine is also a polyamine compounds and conjugated to chlorambucil the cytotoxicity against plasmacytoma cells was increased by 225-fold and the conjugate was 10,000 fold more active than chlorambucil at cross-linking DNA⁹².

The use of a vector able to target neoplastic tissue has been studied by Miot-Noirault et al. The vector is not naturally found in healthy tissue and is named 2-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose (FDG). This compound is known to accumulate in solid tumors; by conjugating it to chlorambucil; researchers have obtained a targeted drug against cancer. Results are interesting with a high decrease in the toxicity of the drug against healthy cells and promising anti-tumor activity against the two mice models, melanoma and colon carcinoma tumors⁹³.

Chlorambucil can also be conjugated to proteins through multiple bond types which can affect the activity of the conjugate. A study revealed that chlorambucil bound to an albumin with an ester bound is less toxic than a conjugation with hydrazone bonds. The chlorambucil-asparagine conjugate shows to be targeted against cancer cells and cause less damage than free chlorambucil and yield better results⁹⁴. Glutathione-chlorambucil also shows promising results against adenocarcinoma⁹⁵.

The alkylating agent can be conjugated to other drugs, like gemcitabine to increase the solubility and also the toxicity of the two drugs. The hydrophilic gemcitabine increases the solubility of the chlorambucil and allows a better distribution⁹⁶.

EDC/NHS conjugation method

The most common technique to conjugate a carboxylic molecule to another amine containing molecule is to use a carbodiimide. 1-ethyl-3-[3-dimethylaminopropyl] carbodiimide hydrochloride (EDC) is a zero-length carboxyl to amine crosslinker with a molecular weight of 191.7 g/mol.

This molecule is currently widely used to attach hapten to carrier proteins, crosslink proteins to carboxyl-coated beads or surfaces, or form amine bonds in peptide synthesis. EDC will form an amine reactive O-acylisourea intermediate when it reacts with the carboxylic function of the first molecule (see Figure 6). The carboxylic acid group and amine containing molecule are linked by an amide bond, and isourea is released from this reaction. However, O-acylisourea intermediate is unstable in aqueous solutions, and a hydrolysis of the intermediate with a regeneration of the carboxyl can occur as we can see on the Figure 6⁹⁷. The most efficient conditions are an acidic environment with around a 4.5 pH and a buffer without any carboxylic group. However, using a phosphate buffer with neutral pH condition is possible but the efficiency is lower, which can be compensated by a higher amount of EDC.

N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide (sulfo-NHS) is a compound that can be added to the conjugation reaction to increase efficiency or create stable intermediates. EDC is a coupling reagent and with NHS, they will form a NHS ester, a highly reactive activated and less labile acid intermediate. The intermediate is stable and can be stored at low temperatures⁹⁸. By forming a sulfo-NHS ester, the stability and solubility of the molecule increases but also the efficiency of the conjugation to primary amines at physiologic pH.



Figure 6: Scheme of the reaction of the conjugation between a carboxylic acid molecule (1) and a primary amine molecule (2) with EDC with or without sulfo-NHS. The molecules can be proteins, chemicals or peptides. Source: <u>https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/protein-biology/proteinbiology-learning-center/protein-biology-resource-library/pierce-proteinmethods/carbodiimide-crosslinker-chemistry.html</u>

Lysine is the only amino acid with a primary amine where the EDC/NHS reaction can occur. They exist also at the end of each polypeptide chain. At physiologic pH, primary amines are positively charged and became more accessible to conjugation reagents. Moreover, they form a nucleophilic group, giving them the ability to be targeted for conjugation. The ANXA5 has an amino acid sequence with 22 lysines, so theoretically we can conjugate at least 22 molecules of chlorambucil if the steric configuration allows it, Figure 7 shows the FASTA file of human annexin A5. However, the secondary, tertiary and quaternary structures of the molecule reduce

this possibility. In effect, some of the functions would be hidden inside helixes and turns

creating the tertiary shown on Figure 4.

>sp|P08758|ANXA5_HUMAN Annexin A5 OS=Homo sapiens OX=9606 GN=ANXA5 PE=1 SV=2 MAQVLRGTVTDFPGFDERADAETLRKAMKGLGTDEESILTLLTSRSNAQRQEISAAFKTL

FG<mark>R</mark>DLLDDL<mark>K</mark>SELTG<mark>KFEK</mark>LIVALMKPS<mark>R</mark>LYDAYELKHALKGAGTNEKVLTEIIAS<mark>R</mark>TPE ELRAIKQVYEEEYGSSLEDDVVGDTSGYYQ<mark>R</mark>MLVVLLQANRDPDAGIDEAQVEQDAQALF QAGELKWGTDEEKFITIFGTRSVSHLRKVFDKYMTISGFQIEETIDRETSGNLEQLLLAV VKSIRSIPAYLAETLYYAMKGAGTDDHTLIRVMVSRSEIDLFNIRKEFRKNFATSLYSMI KGDTSGDYKKALLLLCGEDD

Figure 7 : Amino acids of the human annexin A5. In yellow, the amino acids are indicated that can possibly have a primary amine able to bind the chlorambucil molecule with the EDC/NHS chemistry.

Source : https://www.uniprot.org/uniprot/P08758.fasta

Scope of Thesis

Hypothesis

Annexin A5 is naturally attracted by phosphatidylserines (PS) at the surface of cancer cells, and it has been shown to be internalized in cells. Chlorambucil can be internalized and kill a cell by blocking its DNA. In this project we hypothesize that the conjugation between those two molecules gives a new molecule with these two characteristics: a molecule that targets cancer cells and is internalized in these cells, leading to cell death. Those characteristics will be kept unmodified during the process of conjugation; the molecule will be less toxic to normal cells and more effective than free chlorambucil against breast cancer and leukemia.

1st Objective: Conjugation of the annexin A5 with chlorambucil

The conjugation of a protein with a chemotherapeutic agent uses current established techniques used in the biochemistry industry. The yield should be good enough after the chemistry, and the solution has to be pure to be used in vitro and in vivo and to avoid secondary effects (see the 2nd and 3rd objectives). The protein has to be undenatured and able to bind to the PS, and the chlorambucil has to keep its chemotherapeutic activity.

2nd Objective: In vitro studies on leukemia and breast cancer

Several cell lines are used to test the activity of the protein-drug molecule. Because PS is present in every cancer cell, the drug should be able to have an activity at least equivalent to the free chlorambucil. Cell lines of leukemia, non-adherent cancer cells, and breast adherent cancer cells are used to study the selectivity, targeting and cytotoxicity of the drug. The free drug and the conjugate activity and selectivity are compared statistically.

3rd Objective: In vivo studies on leukemia and breast cancer

Mice with breast cancer or leukemia shows us the consequence of an injection of our drug and help us study the evolution of the disease. The new drug will be compared to the free chlorambucil and a saline solution (no treatment). Leukemia is a white blood cell cancer, so the annexin A5 should be able to kill cancer cells in the blood after a daily injection and increase the survival time. Breast cancer cells will be injected into mice, and the new drug will be compared to free chlorambucil and saline solution. The results between those three groups will be compared statistically.

Materials and Methods

Materials

pET-30 Ek/LIC vector was from EMD Chemicals (Billerica, MA). Bovine serum albumin (BSA), Alamar Blue reagent, Triton X-100, EDTA, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), selenomethionine, isopropyl 2-D thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG), and Tris-acetate-EDTA buffer, N- *p*-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethyl ketone (TPCK), phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride were from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MO). HRV-3C protease was from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). Sodium phosphate and sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) were from Mallinckrodt Chemicals (Phillipsburg, NJ). The 2 and 100 kDa dialysis membranes were from Spectrum Laboratories (Rancho Dominguez, CA). Murine breast cancer cells 4T1 (ATCC® CRL2539TM) and EMT6 (ATCC® CRL2755TM), leukemia cells L1210 (ATCC® CCL219™), lymphoma cells P388D1 [P388 D1] (ATCC® CCL-46TM), RPMI-1640 medium, Waymouth's MB 752/1 Medium, L-glutamine 200 mM, Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium were from ATCC (Manassas, VA). Fetal bovine serum (FBS) was from Atlanta Biologicals (Lawrenceville, GA). Antibiotics, penicillin and streptomycin, were from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY). His-trap columns were from GE healthcare Chicago, IL). Chlorambucil was from TCI America (Portland, OR). HPLC grade ethanol was from Acros Organics (Waltham, MA). FITC, Alexa-488, Deep Red Plasma Membrane stain, DAPI, propidium iodide, flow cytometry staining buffer, fixation/permeabilization buffer, permeabilization buffer, Slide-A-Lyzer dialysis cassettes (3.5 kDa) were from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Waltham, MA). Tryptone, yeast extract, and kanamycin monosulfate were obtained from Alfa Aesar (Haverville, MA). Sodium hydroxide, potassium chloride, and sodium chloride were from VWR inc

(Radnor, PA). HRV-C3 protease was from Sino biologics (Wayne, PA). Bradford reagent were from BioRad (Hercules, CA).

Methods

Recombinant Bacteria

The plasmid contains encoding annexin A5, pET-30 EK/LIC/ANXA5, was previously constructed in this lab by PhD student Naveen Palwai⁹⁹. *E. coli* BL21(DE3) had been transformed to contain this plasmid.

Protein Production

In the E. coli BL21(DE3) cells used to produce annexin A5, the T7 RNA polymerase is controlled by a checkpoint, Lac regulatory construct, only active in the presence of IPTG (isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside). The *E. coli*-BL21(DE3) transformed cells are cultured in a 10 mL lysogeny broth (LB) media containing 35 µg/mL of kanamycin for 12 hours before being added to 1 L of LB media. Bacteria has to be shaken and kept at a temperature around 37°C. The culture is made first in a small batch to increase the speed, and a first growth of bacteria will start the growth phase and use the LB media as a nutrient. The liter is dispatched in 4-1 L flasks to increase the contact with the air, and the culture is incubated again at 37°C with shaking. The media will become foggy, and after a few hours, the concentration of bacteria is determined by spectroscopic turbidimetry. The optical density should be measured and when it reaches a minimum of 0.5, the solution of bacteria is ready for the next step, the induction. annexin A5 will be expressed only if the bacteria containing the plasmid is in a medium containing isopropyl β -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) to induce the expression of T7RNAP which in turn will induce the expression of annexin A5 in the cytoplasm of the cell. Only a concentration of 0.4 mM is enough to induce protein expression. The solution incubates

at 30°C with shaking for 5 h to increase the time of contact of bacteria and IPTG and increase the protein production. Then the cells are harvested by centrifugation at 1000 x g for 10 minutes into 4 Falcon tubes at 4°C to slow down the bacteria metabolism and avoid the lysis of the protein by proteinases. Bacteria are resuspended into a sonication buffer containing N- *p*-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethyl ketone (TPCK) (a protease inhibitor), phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF) (a serine protease inhibitor), and 2mercaptoethanol to prevent protein oxidation. Ethanol is added to dilute insoluble components like TPCK and PMSF, and sodium phosphate dibasic is present to keep annexin A5 in its active form. Bacteria resuspended into the sonication buffer are sonicated to destroy the bacteria walls and release intracellular proteins. At this step the solution contains different proteins and bacteria walls. A centrifugation at 12 000 x g for 30 min will separate all the soluble proteins from the insolubles. The solution after the centrifugation contains only different intracellular components of bacteria including annexin A5. Imidazole and NaCl are added to the solution to reduce non-specific protein binding.

The purification is done by a chromatography; the column contains nickel beads (Ni-NTA resin) where the histidine can bind. Three solutions are necessary for three steps in a purification by metal affinity chromatography:

The first buffer contains sodium phosphate dibasic and sodium chloride, two components necessary to mimic the physiological condition and keep protein soluble. The phosphate buffer inhibits the kinase, keeping the pH around 7.4 and avoiding interferences with the protein. NaCl increases the ionic strength of the phosphate buffer, removing components bound to the column. Non-specific ionic and hydrophobic interaction binding between proteins is reduced to increase the selectivity of the column
for His-tag proteins. A small concentration of imidazole is necessary to clean the Ni-NTA resin in the column from contaminants. It will compete with the other proteins to bind to the nickel in immobilized metal affinity chromatography.

When the soluble protein fraction is eluted in the column, the His-Tag will bind to the Ni²⁺-NTA while the flow of the second buffer will elute the rest of the solution containing proteins.

The second buffer also contains sodium phosphate dibasic, sodium chloride, imidazole, and Triton X-114. Triton reduces on a higher level non-specific hydrophobic interaction without interfering with the binding of the tagged protein. However, the Triton in high concentration interferes with the Bradford assay by a mechanism not elucidated yet. This technique will be used to determine the final concentration of the protein, so we have to remove this molecule from the column. Before the elution of the targeted protein, the column is washed with the first wash buffer to remove the presence of Triton X-114.

The elution buffer contains also phosphate dibasic, sodium chloride but imidazole in a higher quantity to compete with His-Tag-annexin A5 bonded to the Ni²⁺-NTA resin. However, a protein contained in *E. coli* can contaminate our solution; SlyD is a common contaminant, a 25 kDa peptidyl-prolyl isomerase^{100,101}.

The column will be regenerated by using 25 mL of each following solution: 1 M potassium chloride, 1 M sodium hydroxide, DI water and 1 M ethanol. Potassium chloride blocks non-specific interactions between protein and matrix, sodium hydroxide removes the lipids trapped in the column, and water is to adjust the pH and prepare the column for the ethanol/water solution, ideally to store the column.

The protein eluted is in a solution highly concentrated in imidazole and salt. A 3 hour dialysis in a sodium phosphate buffer at physiological pH is done to replace the salty solution with a buffer suitable for the cleavage of C-terminal His-tag. A Bradford protein assay determines the concentration of annexin A5. Bradford reagent (250 μ L) with 5 μ L of the protein will be used. The absorbance at 595 nm is read, and a standard curve gives the protein concentration.

To cleave the C-terminal His-tag, HRV3C protease is used to cleave at the artificial HRV cleavage site between the His-tag and the protein. A quantity of 10 U of enzyme per mg of annexin A5 has to be added to the solution containing the right buffer, necessary for the enzyme to be active. The first wash buffer has to be added to the column to prepare the Ni²⁺-NTA. After 16 hours, this solution containing enzymes and annexin A5 will be fed through the column. Free protein will be eluted directly while the His-tag will remain in the column. The uncleaved protein and free His-tag are eluted with the elution buffer containing a high concentration of imidazole.

The free protein has to be dialyzed again with a buffer containing sodium phosphate dibasic and sodium chloride to mimic the physiological environment and have a protein ready to use.

An SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) will verify the quality of the production. Theoretically the annexin A5 has a weight of 36 kDa.

Conjugation Between annexin A5 and chlorambucil

For this step we decide to synthetize 10 mg of the conjugate annexin A5chlorambucil. The chlorambucil is a drug that is not soluble in water. To be able to use the drug into water and bring the molecule in contact to the protein, we have to change the condition of the environment. By decreasing the pH, the chlorambucil is becoming soluble. A drop of HCl 12 M is added for each 0.1 milligram of chlorambucil. In a beaker, 10 drops of HCl 12 M and 1 mg of chlorambucil are added while stirring. Then 1 mL of sterile phosphate buffer at pH 7.4 is added drop by drop and stirred. The solution should stay acidic to prevent the chlorambucil from crystallizing but not too acidic to be able to add NHS to the molecule. For 0.1 mg of chlorambucil, 7 mg of sulfo NHS and 10 mg of EDC are added. For 10 mg of annexin A5 and 1 mg of the alkylating agent, we have to add 70 mg of sulfo NHS and 100 mg of EDC. The solution is stirred for 5 min and 2 μ L of 2-mercaptoethanol are added.

The solution of annexin A5 has to have a concentration around 1 mg/ml. If the concentration is more than 2 mg/mL, the protein can precipitate during the conjugation. A pH meter and a solution of sodium hydroxide must continuously maintain the pH around 7.4 ± 0.3 . The chlorambucil-NHS is added drop by drop to the solution and stirred gently for 12 hours.

The solution should be centrifuged at 12,000 g for 10 min to remove insoluble chlorambucil non-conjugate from the soluble conjugate. The conjugate solution is dialyzed into 2 L of sterile phosphate buffer for 3 hours at 4°C to have a pure drug into a pH 7.4 buffer, ready to use. Then the solution can be filtrated to 0.2 μ m filter under vacuum to remove any contaminants, and the concentration of annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) can be measured by Bradford Protein Assay at 595 nm, and the quantity of chlorambucil can be measured by fluorescence after photoactivation at 358 nm. The solution has to be stocked into -80°C liquid nitrogen, by the flash freezing technique, and be kept 1 month or used in the next 12 hours.

Quantity of chlorambucil per annexin A5

A standard curve is established by adding different concentrations of chlorambucil into phosphate buffer with 50% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) to increase the solubility of the chlorambucil. The different concentrations are 0.2 μ g/ μ L, 20 and 200 μ g/ μ L into a 1 mL centrifuge tube. Those tubes are lit by UV light for 30 minutes and, left 20 min to cool down, and the fluorescence is read at 434 nm. The emission fluorescence is plotted against the concentration of chlorambucil.

To determine the concentration of chlorambucil conjugated to our protein, 500 μ L of our conjugate is added to a microcentrifuge tube with 50 % DMSO. The DMSO is an organic solvent and can precipitate, denature, crystallize proteins, but the quantity of chlorambucil stays the same after the DMSO is added to the microcentrifuge tube. After 30 min under UV light and 20 min to cool, the fluorescence is read with the multiplate reader at 434 nm. The results are directly compared to the standard curve to determine the concentration of chlorambucil in our conjugate solution and determine how many molecules of chlorambucil are on each protein of annexin A5.

In vitro experiments: Breast cancer cell line and culture conditions

Two breast cancer cell lines were chosen to study the cytotoxicity of the chlorambucil. The first one, EMT6 (ATCC® CRL2755[™]), is a common cell line to study breast cancer taken from mice and is metastatic within days after implantation. They are epithelial cells from breast tissue with a mammary carcinoma and growing in adherent conditions. EMT6 metastasizes after being implanted orthotopically. The second one, 4T1 (ATCC® CRL2539[™]), is a mammary carcinoma breast cancer cell line that is an animal model of an animal stage IV human breast cancer. They are also adherent cells. 4T1 mammary carcinoma are highly tumorigenic and invasive, and they can

spontaneously metastasize in the early stage of the primary tumor in the mammary gland to multiple distant sites: lymph nodes, blood, liver, lung, brain and bones^{102–104}.

The EMT6 (ATCC® CRL2755TM) cells were grown in 85% Waymouth's MB 752/1 medium with 2 mM L-glutamine and 15 % fetal bovine serum. The cells were grown at 37° C with 5% CO₂. The cryopreservation medium is the complete culture medium with 5% DMSO.

The murine breast cancer cells 4T1 (ATCC® CRL2539[™]) were grown in RPMI-1640 medium enriched with 10 % FBS and penicillin/streptomycin antibiotics (100 U.ml⁻¹ and 100 µg.ml⁻¹, respectively). The cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The cryopreservation medium is the complete culture medium with 5% DMSO.

In vitro experiments: Leukemia cell line and culture conditions L1210 (ATCC® CCL219[™]) is a lymphocytic leukemia cell line grown in suspension. They are they are skin cells from DBA subline 212.

Leukemia cell line L1210 cells (ATCC® CCL219TM) were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium enriched with 10% horse serum. The cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The cryopreservation medium is the complete culture medium with 5% DMSO.

Lymphoma cell line P388D1 cells [P388 D1] (ATCC[®] CCL46[™]) are monocytes, macrophages growing in suspension.

The P388D1 cells [P388 D1] (ATCC® CCL46TM) were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium enriched with 10% horse serum. The cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO₂. The cryopreservation medium is the complete culture medium with 5% DMSO.

29

The L1210 and P388 cell lines are murine models highly used to evaluate anticancer activity and develop new drugs. Some advantages are that they grow rapidly, homogeneously and are easily reproducible¹⁰⁵.

In vitro experiments: Cytotoxicity studies on cancer cell lines

The Alamar Blue assay was used to determine the cytotoxicity of the chlorambucil compared to Annexin A5-Chlorambucil on each cell line over 20 hours and 4 more hours for the Alamar Blue assay in 96 well plates.

In vitro fluorescence visualization

4T1-Td cells (ATCC® CRL2539TM) cells were grown until 70% confluence on cover slips. Annexin A5 (1.5 mg/mL) was tagged with FITC following protocol of J. Nueves et Al.¹⁰⁶ and incubated with the cells for 2 hours, followed with PBS washing of any unbound protein. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, and images were taken on a Nikon Fluorescence microscope. The same protocol was used for the L1210 (ATCC® CCL219TM).

In vivo experiments: 4T1 breast cancer cell line

All procedures complied with a protocol approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of Oklahoma. BALB/c female mice 6 weeks of age, weighing 18 - 20 g, were used. Mice were on a standard chow diet. Mice were injected with 5 x 10^4 4T1 (ATCC® CRL2539TM) cells in mammary fat pad number four. Cells were suspended in 50 µL PBS. Mouse body weight was monitored every 3-4 days. Mice bearing tumors were randomized into groups (5 per group) prior to initiation of treatment when tumors reached 100 mm³. ANXA5-CHL fusion protein (200 µL at 0.5 mg CHL/kg body weight) was administered over 21 days daily and started 5 days after the injection of 4T1 (ATCC® CRL2539TM) cells. Mice were euthanized once ascite development occurred or animals seemed distressed, and tumor, blood, and organs were collected.

Tumor volume was calculated with the modified ellipsoid formula volume = (1/2) x (length x width²) using caliper measurements of the longest dimension and perpendicular width.

In vivo experiments: Leukemia cell line

All procedures complied with a protocol approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of Oklahoma. DBA female mice 6 weeks of age, weighing 18 - 20 g were used. Mice were on a standard chow diet. Mice were injected with 5 x 10^{5} L1210 cells (ATCC® CCL219TM) by intraperitoneal injections. Cells were suspended in 50 µL PBS. Mouse body weight was monitored every 3-4 days. Mice were randomized into groups (5 per group) prior to initiation of the treatment 4 days after the inoculation. ANXA5-CHL fusion protein (200 µL at 0.5 mg CHL/kg body weight) was administered over 21 days daily and started 48 hours after the injection of L1210 (ATCC® CCL219TM) cells. Mice were euthanized once animals seemed distressed, weak or swelling, and tumor, blood, and organs were collected. Information about the studies using mice is summarized in Table 1.

In vivo mice number

Type of cancer	Breast	Leukemia			
	4T1 (ATCC® CRL-	L1210 (ATCC® CCL219 TM)			
	2539тм)				
Model	BALB/c	DBA			
Number of mice per	5	5			
group					
Age (weeks)	6	6			

	4	n	C	•		•	•	•	4 1.
Inhin	•••	Summary	nt	mico	11600	during	in	VINA	CTUDIOC
I ADIC		Summary	VI.	IIIICC	uscu	uuiiiig		VIVU	SLUUICS

Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed with Excel 2019, Graphpad Prism 8^{TM} software, and FIJI. Statistical significance of cytotoxicity results was assessed using a one-way ANOVA and Tukey-Kramer multiple comparisons test. Statistical significance of survival curves was determined by the Gehan-Breslow-Wilcoxon test and Mantel-Haenszel log-rank test. Multiple comparisons were done by using the Bonferroni threshold with a number of samples n = 5. Errors are represented graphically as standard error, or SE.

Results

Results of the SDS-PAGE

Chlorambucil, with a molecular weight of 304,212 Da, has been conjugated to the ANXA5 protein, and the SDS-PAGE gel is shown in Figure 8. The EDC/NHS protocol conjugates the carboxylic function of the chlorambucil to the amine functions on the annexin A5. By estimating the average weight of the ANXA5-CHL at 39 kDa, approximately 10 molecules of chlorambucil are fixed by amide bonds on the protein. However, another technique is used to determine the concentration of chlorambucil present after conjugation.

Results of the determination of the concentration of chlorambucil

To find the concentration of chlorambucil in our conjugate solution, we used a fluorescent microscopy after photoactivation. Following the assay procedure described above, a standard curve is first made with three different concentrations of chlorambucil, respectively 0.2, 2 and 20 mg/mL of chlorambucil. After excitation at 358 nm, the fluorescence is read at 434 nm and the standard curve is made, and we found a linear relationship between the fluorescence (y) and the concentration (x) shown in Figure 9.

 $y = 172.2\ln(x) + 725.31.$

Then, we read the fluorescence of our conjugate after photoactivation and used the standard curve to determine the concentration of the alkylating agent in our conjugate sample solution. Our annexin A5 (36 kDa) has a concentration of 0.1 mg/mL, or 2.7 μ M, and we read a concentration of chlorambucil at 9 mg/mL, or 27 μ M. For one molecule of annexin A5, we have 10 molecules of chlorambucil.



Figure 8: SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis of annexin A5 (left) and two different batches of the conjugate (middle & right) with two protein marker ladders (M) with the indicated molecular masses in kDa. The ANXA5 has a molecular weight around 36 kDa confirmed by the bibliography. The conjugate has a molecular weight around 38 to 40 kDa, indicating that the conjugate is heavier than the ANX5A.



Figure 9: Standard curve of the determination of the quantity of chlorambucil in a solution by spectroactivation.

The fluorescence is proportional to chlorambucil concentration (equation is $y = 172.2\ln(x) + 725.31$). We can use this equation to determine the concentration of chlorambucil in our annexin A5-chlorambucil solution. Because the free chlorambucil is not present in the solution due to the previous dialysis, the concentration of chlorambucil in this solution is only the chlorambucil bound to the protein. Samples depicted as mean \pm SE (n = 3).

In vitro results of cytotoxicity assays

Cytotoxicity studies indicate a significant cytotoxic effect of the ANXA5-CHL molecule on breast cancer cell lines EMT6 and 4T1, leukemia cells L1210, and lymphoma cells P388. The results of the cytotoxicity experiments, with a duration of 16 hours, is shown for the four cell lines in Figures 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14. The conjugate treatment was particularly effective for each cell line. For the leukemia cell line L1210 and lymphoma P388, cytotoxicity studies show that a free chlorambucil concentration of 50 μ M is not enough to kill 30% of the cells¹⁰⁷.

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on EMT6 breast cancer cell line

The cytotoxicity of the conjugate for the EMT6 cells is 100-fold better than the free drug as we can see in Figure 10. The conjugate starts to kill cancer cells above 0.1 μ M with a very good toxicity, killing 75% of the cells between 0.1 and 0.5 μ M. The free chlorambucil is less effective, starting to be active at 10 μ M and requiring a concentration of 200 μ M to kill 80% of the cells. The LD50's for EMT6 with the conjugate and the free chlorambucil are, 0.3 μ M and 100 μ M, respectively. The conjugate is more effective in killing EMT6 cancer cells than the free chlorambucil.

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on 4T1 mammary cancer cell line

The cytotoxicity of the conjugate on the 4T1 cells (Figure 11) is 10-fold better than the free drug. The conjugate starts to kill cancer cells above 0.2 μ M and nearly completely kill them with 10 μ M. The LD50 is 3 μ M for the conjugate and 180 μ M for the chlorambucil. The free chlorambucil starts to kill cells above 1 μ M; however, the cytotoxicity is less efficient and can barely kill 60% of the cells with 300 μ M. These cells represent a stage IV triple negative breast cancer, in which cells are less sensitive to chemotherapeutic drugs^{108–111}. The conjugate cytotoxicity is less effective than for EMT6 cells but still stays more effective than the free chlorambucil.

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on L1210 leukemia cell line

The cytotoxic efficacy of the new conjugate, ANXA5-CHL, was evaluated for L1210 leukemia cells as seen in Figure 12. The free chlorambucil takes around 60 minutes to bind to the DNA of the L1210 cells ¹¹². Significant cell death is seen after one day of ANXA5-CHL when only 1 μ M is necessary to start to kill cancer cells, while the free chlorambucil needs a concentration 10 times higher. Only 4 μ M of the conjugate kills 90% of the cancer cells, and 200 μ M of free chlorambucil is necessary for the same result; their LD50's are, respectively, 1.3 μ M and 10 μ M. The conjugate is 10-fold more effective.

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on L1210 resistant leukemia cell line

Resistant cells against chlorambucil should need, in theory, more chlorambucil to be killed. The LD50 for the conjugate is 7.5 μ M and for the chlorambucil 145 μ M (Figure 13). The viability curves for the resistant cells were shifted approximately 10 times higher in concentration compared to non-resistant cells (Figure 12).

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assay on P388 lymphoma cancer cell line

The effect on the conjugate on the viability of the lymphoma cell line P388 was compared to that of the free drug (Figure 14). The conjugate is effective at 1 μ M, and its toxicity for cancer cells is higher than the free chlorambucil with more than 90% of the cells dead with 3 μ M. The free chlorambucil is less toxic; it starts to kill cells above 8 μ M but needs a concentration 14 times higher to be able to kill 75% of the cells. These results are similar to the leukemia cell line L1210 (Figure 12), and this was predictable since these two cell lines evolve in the same way in the body. In effect, those two cell lines are lymphoblasts and involves lymphocytes. The LD50 for the P388 cell line is 1.5 μ M for the conjugate and 80 μ M for the chlorambucil. The *in vitro* cytotoxic effects of the free chlorambucil on P388 cells agree with those found in the literature⁶⁵.

Results of in vitro cytotoxicity assays

The conjugate shows clearly better results than the free chlorambucil on cancer cell lines. The cancer cells can be from a solid tumor, as a breast cancer tumor, or from a non-adherent cancer type, leukemia. This effect could potentially result from active transport across the cell membrane due to the annexin A5. The increased cytotoxicity could be due to a better penetration of the drug induced by the active endocytosis of the ANXA5-CHL into the cells. Chlorambucil alone is clinically limited to leukemia patients too weak to support a strong chemotherapy. The increased cytotoxicity and the targeted system using the conjugate potentially could give a better treatment for patients. The use of the conjugate at the same dose as the free drug would result in fewer side effect.



Figure 10: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of EMT6 breast cancer cell line and the conjugate annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) and free chlorambucil.

The effect of free chlorambucil is compared to the effect of the conjugate. The two groups were treated at t = 0, and the results were read at t = 24 hours of the study. Each well was at a confluency of 70% at t = 0 with 180 µL of media and 10 µL of chlorambucil or conjugate added at different concentrations. Viability was determined by the Alamar Blue assay at t = 24 hours by fluorescence measurement at 590 nm after an excitation wavelength of 550 nm. The viability curves are significantly different ($p \le 0.005$). Data depicted as mean \pm SE (n = 8).



Figure 11: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of 4T1 breast cancer cell line and the conjugate annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) and free chlorambucil.

The effect of free chlorambucil is compared to the effect of the conjugate. The two groups were treated at t = 0, and the results were read at t = 24 hours of the study. Each well was at a confluency of 70% at t = 0 with 180 μ L of media, and 10 μ L of chlorambucil or conjugate added at different concentrations. Viability was determined by the Alamar Blue assay at t = 24 hours by fluorescence measurement at 590 nm after an excitation wavelength of 550 nm. The viability curves are significantly different (p ≤ 0.005). Data is presented as mean ± SE with n=12.



Figure 12: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of L1210 leukemia cell line and the conjugate annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) and free chlorambucil.

The effect of free chlorambucil is compared to the effect of the conjugate. The two groups were treated at t = 0, and the results were read at t = 24 hours of the study. Each well had at least 25,000 non-adherent cells at t = 0 with 180 µL of media and 10 µL of chlorambucil or conjugate added at different concentrations. Viability was determined by the Alamar Blue assay at t = 24 hours by fluorescence measurement at 590 nm after an excitation wavelength of 550 nm. The viability curves are significantly different ($p \le 0.005$). Data depicted as mean \pm SE (n = 8).



Figure 13: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of L1210 resistant leukemia cell line and the conjugate annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) and free chlorambucil.

The effect of free chlorambucil is compared to the effect of the conjugate. The two groups were treated at t = 0, and the results were read at t = 24 hours of the study. Each well had at least 25,000 non-adherent cells at t = 0 with 180 μ L of media already containing free chlorambucil at 10 μ M and 10 μ L of chlorambucil or conjugate added at different concentrations. Viability was determined by the Alamar Blue assay at t = 24 hours by fluorescence measurement at 590 nm after an excitation wavelength of 550 nm. The viability curves are significantly different (p ≤ 0.005). Data depicted as mean ± SE (n = 8).



Figure 14: Cytotoxicity assay on a 96 plate-wells of P388 Lymphoma cell line and the conjugate annexin A5-chlorambucil (ANXA5-CHL) and free chlorambucil.

The effect of free chlorambucil is compared to the effect of the conjugate. The two groups were treated at t = 0 and the results were read at t = 24 hours of the study. Each well had at least 25,000 non-adherent cells at t = 0 with 180 µL of media already containing free chlorambucil at 10 µM and 10 µL of chlorambucil or conjugate added at different concentrations. Viability was determined by the Alamar Blue assay at t = 24 hours by fluorescence measurement at 590 nm after an excitation wavelength of 550 nm. The viability curves are significantly different ($p \le 0.005$). Data depicted as mean \pm SE (n = 8).

Results of the in vitro visualization

The fluorescence microscope reveals that the conjugate can bind the cancer cells (Figure 15). The mammary cells are around 25 μ m and appears red due to their expression of Td tomato (Figure 15 B). Binding of the conjugate, indicated by the green fluorescence, is only to the cells (Figure 15 C).

The L1210 leukemia cells were also red due to the Tomato Td modification (Figure 16 A). After treatment and washing, we can visualize more precisely the high presence of ANXA5 on the cell (Figure 16 A and B). It confirms that the conjugate can bind any cancer cells, adherent or non-adherent from, respectively, breast cancer and leukemia.





Observation under a fluorescence microscope (NIKON) of a 4T1 cell without any fluorescence (A). Fluorescent microscopy shows localization of tdTomato labeled 4T1 cancer cells (B) and FITC-labeled ANXA5-CHL (C).

.





Observation under a fluorescence microscope (NIKON) of td Tomato labeled L1210 cells (red) (A). The annexin A5 is conjugated to a green fluorescent marker (FITC) and bind the cells (A and B).

Results of 4T1 in vivo experiments

The results for the effect of the ANXA5-CHL conjugate on the tumor growth and survival of mice with orthotopic 4T1 tumors are shown in Figure 17 and Figure 18, respectively. The ANXA5 reduced the volume increased by 77% compared to the two other groups with a slightly volume increase after day 9 for each group. At 12 days, the volume of the tumor for the control group was 180 mm³, while the volume of the group of mice treated with the conjugate is only 60 mm³, so a volume three times smaller.

The survival was monitored to evaluate the efficacy in vivo of the therapy. Free chlorambucil increased significantly the survival of mice with 4T1 tumors with a mean survival time of 29 days. The conjugate increased the survival and gave an average lifetime of 31 days and has a significantly increased the survival of the 4T1 mice as shown on Figure 18. The conjugate is more effective on the long-term, but we had to stop the measurement after day 50, indicating that the ANXA5-CHL increased significantly the survival time of the mice.

As we can observe on Figure 19 not negative effects or weight loss was displayed as a result of treatment with the conjugate. The Saline solution as expected decreased the average weight of the mice until they lost 10% of their body weight.

The conjugate significantly improved the survival of the mice compared to the control group and also inhibited the weight loss induce by the growing tumor because of the small increase of the tumor volume of the solid tumor.



Figure 17: Antitumor effect of ANXA5-CHL and chlorambucil against 4T1 tumors on the mammary fat pad number four of BALB/c mice.

ANXA5-CHL and free chlorambucil were administered, by daily IP injection, at 0.5 mg/kg and 5 to 20 mg/kg respectively. Treatment occurred for 11 days and the start of treatment is indicated by the arrow. Data is presented as mean \pm SE (n = 12).





Treatment on BALB/c mice started 10 days after inoculation with 5 x 10^5 4T1 breast cancer cells. Mice were treated with ANXA5-CHL, free chlorambucil and saline solution daily for 15 days. The dose was 0.5 mg/kg of chlorambucil. Survival was monitored, and mice were euthanized if there was more than 10% abdominal swelling or mice seems distressed. Data presented as mean \pm SE (n = 9).



Figure 19: Minimal effect of ANXA5-CHL on 4T1 breast cancer mouse weight. Treatment started 5 days after inoculation with $5 \times 10^5 4T1$ mammary breast cancer cells. Tumor weight was measured every 2 days over a 12 days period. Data is presented as mean \pm SE (n = 12).

Results of L1210 in vivo experiments

The survival of the mice is also increased with the conjugate, shown on Figure 20, and indicated a beneficial effect from the conjugate. The survival was monitored to evaluate the efficacy in vivo against leukemia of the proposed therapy. As seen in the Figure 20, mice treated with the ANXA5-CHL had a significant increase in survival, each result is measured by the Mantle-Cox test (p=0.0004) and the Wilcoxon test (p=0.0005). The median survival for the control group is 8.7 days and 10.4 days for the free chlorambucil, increasing the survival mice bearing L1210 leukemia cells. The conjugate has a median survival time of 10.9 days, increasing the survival of mice bearing leukemia. The ANXA5-CHL compared to free chlorambucil increased significantly the survival of the mice with L1210 leukemia cell line. Moreover, better results could be obtained by increasing the number of animals or increasing the dose of ANXA5-CHL. We can conclude that further work is needed to perfect the model.

Because chlorambucil is used to lower the number of anormal white blood cell, the expected side effect was to observe a decrease in white blood cell number. No side effects have been observed for the ANXA5-CHL treated mice.



Figure 20: Long term survival study of DBA mice with L1210 leukemia treated with the conjugate, free chlorambucil, or saline solution.

Treatment on DBA mice started 5 days after inoculation with 5 x 10^5 L1210 leukemia cancer cells. Mice were treated with ANXA5-CHL, free chlorambucil, and saline solution daily for 20 days. The dose was 0.5 mg/kg of chlorambucil. Data is presented as mean \pm SE (n = 12).

Discussion

Breast cancer today is one of the most important and deadly cancers, and 1 in 8 U.S women will develop invasive breast cancer over their lifetime. Different ways to treat it exist, and today the main solution are chemotherapies, radiotherapies or surgeries. Chemotherapies are effective with a survival rate around 93% but all of them are not targeted against cancer cells^{11,12,15}. Leukemia is a deadly cancer with a year rate survival of 57%, but the success of the treatment depends on the age and the type of leukemia. For this type of cancer with non-adherent cells, treatments can involve chemotherapy, radiation therapy or bone narrow transplants. Targeted chemotherapies are a promising method for treating different cancers, and the target is present for both breast cancer and leukemia.

Our work proposes a new approach with a more cytotoxic treatment against cancer cells and less toxic for healthy cells. The toxicity of chemotherapies for the body, inducing side effects, comes from the death of healthy cells. Annexin A5 binds phosphatidylserine present on the surface of apoptotic cells and thereby impairs their uptake by macrophages. Annexin A5 can contribute indirectly, because of this impaired clearance, to the immune activating tumor microenvironment. Previous studies also show the anti-tumor activity of the annexin A5 in vitro and in vivo¹¹³. and the anti-tumor activity of a fusion protein, annexin A5-TRAIL, increasing the toxicity against cancer cells¹¹⁴. Chlorambucil is supposed to be a treatment for patients who might not be able to tolerate the side effect of strong chemotherapy^{33,115}. Today with the best treatment, less than 1% of the molecule will reach the tumor, and the rest is spread in the body and can cause severe side effects. Moreover, phosphatidylserine is not only expressed on the

surface of apoptotic cells but also on the surface of macrovesicles and angiogenic endothelium, becoming a target for our conjugate.

Leukemia is the main disease treated by chlorambucil, so it is logical to try to increase the toxicity of the chlorambucil against leukemia cells. Moreover the majority of anticancer treatments in clinical use were first screened by murine leukemia¹¹⁶. Because they are cancer cells, their surfaces also present phosphatidylserine; however they float in the blood and don't form solid tumors¹¹⁷. The conjugate was able to bond those cells and kill them resulting in better cytotoxicity than with the free chlorambucil. However usually chlorambucil is used with a second component, for example a monoclonal antibody, to treat weak leukemia patients; further research could try to improve the cytotoxicity by using this second component with the conjugate. Several studies confirm the cytotoxicity of the free chlorambucil associated with Rituximab or Obinutuzumab, which are ideal to treat chronic lymphocytic leukemia by improving the survival of these fragile patients¹¹⁸.

The protocol for the conjugation using EDC/NHS uses several components that could decrease the quality of the final product by denaturating the protein or hydrolyzing the chlorambucil. By using a high acidic environment to improve the dissolution of the alkylating agent in the water, we have to be more careful when we add the protein. With an isoelectric point at 4.93, ANXA5 is easily denaturated and can precipitate if the pH changes significantly. Numerous precipitations have been observed, and the quick change of pH was the problem. During the conjugation the pH is the key; EDC/NHS has to be used in a phosphate buffer to avoid the quick change of pH¹¹⁹. The chlorambucil has an half-life of 1.5 hours when it's free in an aqueous solution^{69,70}. After the conjugation, our sample is instantly frozen to avoid any loss and used 10 minutes after thawing it.

In this study a completely new drug was created, conjugating a mammal protein Annexin A5 to a chemotherapeutic drug, chlorambucil. The anti-cancer efficacy was improved compared to the free chlorambucil.

Our in vitro studies are based on two different cell-lines for the breast cancer and two others for the leukemia. EMT6 is a mouse breast cancer line highly used for in vivo and vitro studies that is metastatic within days after implantation¹²⁰. 4T1 is an aggressive triple negative breast cancer cell line, forming metastasis in the early development of the tumor. LD50's in vitro are 0.3 μ M and 3 μ M for EMT6 and 4T1 cells respectively. The difference in the LD50 is logical because the 4T1 cells are more invasive and resistant than the EMT6 cells. The in vivo test could be improved by increasing the dose of the conjugate and chlorambucil. We used a concentration of 0.5 mg of chlorambucil/kg, and this could be increased until 20 mg of chlorambucil/kg, above which side effects have been observed¹²¹.Because chlorambucil is targeted to the tumor cells, it is very likely that doses of greater than 20 mg/kg could be used without causing side effects.

L1210 and P388 are highly used models for studying leukemia in vitro and in vivo¹⁰⁵. However, it would be appropriate to do in vitro and in vivo tests in other leukemia cell lines to validate our findings¹¹⁶.

In summary, the conjugation between a targeting protein and chlorambucil was developed, and in vitro and in vivo studies showed promising results. All of our findings suggested that this approach may have implications in cancer therapies and could be used to treat breast cancer and leukemia and decrease considerably side effects of classic chemotherapies.

Conclusion

This study has shown success in the conjugation of a protein with several chlorambucil molecules. The conjugate is able specifically to target cancer cells by binding to phosphatidylserine and by endocytosis, bringing the alkylating agent into the cells. The conjugation didn't modify the characteristic of each molecule and enhances the cytotoxicity against breast cancer and leukemia. The conjugation protocol is effective and relatively fast with a ratio of molecule conjugated of 100%. The annexin A5 with the chlorambucil has a weight increased from 36 kDa to 49 kDa as we can see on the SDS-PAGE electrophoresis. Moreover, we have around 10 molecules of chlorambucil per molecules of annexin A5, inducing a better cytotoxicity.

The ANXA5-CHL can target and kill both adherent and non-adherent cancer cells with a higher cure rate than chlorambucil alone. The conjugate needs only 0.3 μ M and 1.35 μ M to kill half of the EMT6 and 4T1 cells, respectively, when a concentration 100-times higher of chlorambucil will be needed to obtain the same results.

Breast cancer forms a solid tumor which can metastasize and kill patients in most cases. The EMT6 and 4T1 cell lines represent those cancer types that metastasize, and the in vivo model showed a real improvement in the survival time and in the tumor growth. The survival is improved significantly with a mean increase of 2 days for the mice with leukemia. The breast cancer treatment also shows a good improvement, the mean survival time is increased by 6.7 days when the free chlorambucil improved the mean survival time by 3.5 days. It's also significant that no treatment toxicity was observed. It would be desirable to evaluate the therapy on another type of cancer and study the pharmacokinetics of the conjugate into the body.

Future Directions

The study has shown promising results against a cancer that forms solid tumors (breast cancer) and one that is non-adherent (leukemia). Further research will be required to validate some results and increase our knowledge in this new therapy. First, the same leukemia in vivo study should be repeated by adding a CD20 targeted monoclonal antibody like Obinutuzumab. In effect, because the classic treatment is chlorambucil accompanied with an antibody, the results could be different and impact the in vivo survival difference between the conjugate and the chlorambucil and antibody. CD20 is a protein on the cell surface expressed on B cells and only weakly expressed on CLL cells¹²². An anti-CD20 antibody has shown very good improvement and is now used as treatment with chlorambucil molecule; it would act again those cells and work in synergy with the ANXA5-CHL. Further experimentation is recommended with an increase in the dosage in vivo between 5 to 20 mg of chlorambucil /kg to reduce tumor growth and increase survival¹²¹.

Furthermore, more experiments comparing the ANXA5-CHL with only annexin A5 would give us more information of the impact of annexin A5 on solid tumor and nonadherent cancer cells. Recent articles have shown that annexin A5 can present a slightly anti-tumor effect against melanomas¹¹³. Other studies using different types of cancers like brain cancer should be done to study the limit of the conjugate and its toxicity in some part of the body. Moreover, a healthy cell line should be used to study the activity of the conjugate on those cells; an appropriate cell line for this experiment would be the MCF10 healthy breast cell line¹²³. However, we can already expect a reduced cytotoxicity due to the lack of phosphatidylserine on the surface of the healthy cells. The protocol used to conjugate the annexin A5 to the alkylating agent can be reused to conjugate any drug with a carboxylic function. The carboxylic function can be added chemically, and other drugs can be carried by the annexin A5. A drug more specialized against breast cancer should be studied and compared to the ANXA5-CHL. Doxorubicin and docetaxel are potential candidates for this experiment¹²⁴. Cytotoxicity, toxicity in healthy tissues and survival rate of healthy mice should be determined and compared to the results obtained with the ANXA5-CHL conjugate on the breast cancer cell lines. The conjugate create an hypoxia in the tumor but combined with rapamycin, the hypoxia could be avoided¹²⁵. Because this therapy also targets tumor vasculature endothelial cells, which express phosphatidylserine, this therapy should be combined with an mTOR inhibitor such as rapamycin to counter act the hypoxia created in solid tumor as a result of cutting off the blood supply to the tumor¹²⁵. The killing of tumor vasculature endothelial cells would bond to tumor antigens being released into the bloodstream and distributed throughout the body, so this therapy could be combined with immunostimulation to treat metastatic tumors^{105,126}.

Abbreviation

1-Ethyl-3-[3-dimethylaminopropyl] carbodiimide hydrochloride - EDC

2-Fluoro-2-deoxyglucose - FDG

Acute myeloid leukemia - AML

Acute lymphocytic leukemia - ALL

Annexin A5 – ANXA5

Adenosine triphosphate - ATP

Chronic myeloid leukemia - CML

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia - CLL

Dalton or kilo Dalton – Da or KDa

Dimethyl sulfoxide - DMSO

Deoxyribonucleic acid - DNA

Enhanced permeability and retention - EPR

Fluorescein isothiocyanate - FITC

Immunoglobulin - Ig

Isopropyl β-D-1-thiogalactopyranoside - IPTG

Median lethal dose - LD50

Luria Bertani broth - LB

Matrix metalloproteinase - MMPs

Molarity - M (unity)

N-hydroxysulfosuccinimide - sulfo-NHS

Nickel heads - Ni-NTA resin

N- *p*-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethyl ketone - TPCK

Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride - PMSF

Phosphatidylcholine - PC

Phosphatidylethanolamine - PE

Phosphatidylserine - PS

Polymerase Chain Reaction - PCR

Ribonucleic acid - RNA

Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis - SDS-PAGE

Tissue Factor - TF

Ultraviolet (1-400nm) - UV
Bibliography

 Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* 388, 1545–1602 (2016).

 World Health Organization, World Cancer Report 2014. SEARO Available at: http://www.searo.who.int/publications/bookstore/documents/9283204298/en/.
 (Accessed: 6th June 2018)

3. Anand, P. *et al.* Cancer is a Preventable Disease that Requires Major Lifestyle Changes. *Pharm. Res.* **25**, 2097–2116 (2008).

4. Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*144, 646–674 (2011).

5. Lane, D. P. p53, guardian of the genome. *Nature* **358**, 15–16 (1992).

6. What Is Cancer? *National Cancer Institute* Available at:

https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/what-is-cancer. (Accessed: 31st May 2018)

Guan, X. Cancer metastases: challenges and opportunities. *Acta Pharm. Sin. B* 402–418 (2015).

8. Metastatic Cancer. *National Cancer Institute* Available at:

https://www.cancer.gov/types/metastatic-cancer. (Accessed: 7th June 2018)

9. Eccles, S. A. & Welch, D. R. Metastasis: recent discoveries and novel treatment strategies. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* **369**, 1742–1757 (2007).

10. Profumo, V. & Gandellini, P. MicroRNAs: cobblestones on the road to cancer metastasis. *Crit. Rev. Oncog.* **18**, 341–355 (2013).

11. GHO | Visualizations | Causes of death. WHO Available at:
http://apps.who.int/gho/data/view.wrapper.MGHEMORTCAUSE10?lang=en.
(Accessed: 4th March 2018)

 GLOBOCAN Cancer Fact Sheets: Breast cancer. Available at: http://globocan.iarc.fr/old/FactSheets/cancers/breast-new.asp. (Accessed: 5th March 2018)

da Costa Vieira, R. A., Biller, G., Uemura, G., Ruiz, C. A. & Curado, M. P.
 Breast cancer screening in developing countries. *Clinics* 72, 244–253 (2017).

Breast Cancer Treatment. *National Cancer Institute* Available at:
https://www.cancer.gov/types/breast/patient/breast-treatment-pdq#section/all.
(Accessed: 11th June 2018)

15. Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2014 - SEER Statistics. Available at: https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975 2014/. (Accessed: 5th June 2018)

16. Breast Cancer - Women's Health Issues. *Merck Manuals Consumer Version* Available at: https://www.merckmanuals.com/home/women-s-health-issues/breastdisorders/breast-cancer. (Accessed: 13th June 2018)

17. Lacroix, M. Significance, detection and markers of disseminated breast cancer cells. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* **13**, 1033–1067 (2006).

18. Hutter, J. J. Childhood Leukemia. *Pediatr. Rev.* **31**, 234–241 (2010).

19. Leukemia. *National Cancer Institute* Available at:

https://www.cancer.gov/types/leukemia. (Accessed: 14th June 2018)

20. gknation. Signs and Symptoms. (2015). Available at:

https://www.lls.org/leukemia/chronic-myeloid-leukemia/signs-and-symptoms.

(Accessed: 18th June 2018)

21. What Is Chronic Myeloid Leukemia? | Leukemia Types. Available at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/chronic-myeloid-leukemia/about/what-is-cml.html.
(Accessed: 13th June 2018)

22. Chiorazzi, N., Rai, K. R. & Ferrarini, M. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **352**, 804–815 (2005).

23. Terwilliger, T. & Abdul-Hay, M. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia: a comprehensive review and 2017 update. *Blood Cancer J.* **7**, e577 (2017).

24. What Is Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia? | Acute Lymphocytic Leukemia. Available at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/acute-lymphocytic-leukemia/about/whatis-all.html. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

25. Oshimi, K. Leukemia and lymphoma of natural killer lineage cells. *Int. J. Hematol.* **78**, 18–23 (2003).

 Suzuki, R. *et al.* Prognostic factors for mature natural killer (NK) cell neoplasms: aggressive NK cell leukemia and extranodal NK cell lymphoma, nasal type.
 Ann. Oncol. Off. J. Eur. Soc. Med. Oncol. 21, 1032–1040 (2010).

27. Shanbhag, S. & Ambinder, R. F. Hodgkin lymphoma: A review and update on recent progress. *CA. Cancer J. Clin.* **68**, 116–132 (2018).

28. Townsend, W. & Linch, D. Hodgkin's lymphoma in adults. *The Lancet* 380, 836–847 (2012).

29. Hartlapp, I. *et al.* Depsipeptide induces cell death in Hodgkin lymphomaderived cell lines. *Leuk. Res.* **33**, 929–936 (2009).

30. What Is Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma? Available at:

https://www.cancer.org/cancer/non-hodgkin-lymphoma/about/what-is-non-hodgkin-

lymphoma.html. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

 Drugs Approved for Leukemia. *National Cancer Institute* Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/drugs/leukemia. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

32. Kosugi, H. *et al.* Histone deacetylase inhibitors are the potent inducer/enhancer of differentiation in acute myeloid leukemia: a new approach to anti-leukemia therapy. *Leukemia* **13**, 1316–1324 (1999).

33. Typical Treatment of Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Available at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/chronic-lymphocytic-leukemia/treating/treatment-byrisk-group.html. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

34. Typical Treatment of Most Types of Acute Myeloid Leukemia (Except Acute Promyelocytic M3). Available at: https://www.cancer.org/cancer/acute-myeloidleukemia/treating/typical-treatment-of-aml.html. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

35. Types of Cancer Treatment. *National Cancer Institute* Available at:

https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/types. (Accessed: 14th June 2018)

36. Chemotherapy Side Effects. (2018). Available at:

https://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatments-and-side-effects/treatment-

types/chemotherapy/chemotherapy-side-effects.html. (Accessed: 11th April 2018)

37. Maeda, H. & Matsumura, Y. Tumoritropic and lymphotropic principles of macromolecular drugs. *Crit. Rev. Ther. Drug Carrier Syst.* **6**, 193–210 (1989).

38. Matsumura, Y. & Maeda, H. A new concept for macromolecular therapeutics in cancer chemotherapy: mechanism of tumoritropic accumulation of proteins and the antitumor agent smancs. *Cancer Res.* **46**, 6387–6392 (1986).

39. Greish, K. Enhanced permeability and retention of macromolecular drugs in solid tumors: a royal gate for targeted anticancer nanomedicines. *J. Drug Target.* **15**, 457–464 (2007).

40. Maeda, H. Vascular permeability in cancer and infection as related to macromolecular drug delivery, with emphasis on the EPR effect for tumor-selective drug targeting. *Proc. Jpn. Acad. Ser. B Phys. Biol. Sci.* **88**, 53–71 (2012).

41. Bazak, R., Houri, M., Achy, S. E., Hussein, W. & Refaat, T. Passive targeting of nanoparticles to cancer: A comprehensive review of the literature. *Mol. Clin. Oncol.* **2**, 904–908 (2014).

42. Cho, K., Wang, X., Nie, S., Chen, Z. G. & Shin, D. M. Therapeutic nanoparticles for drug delivery in cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res. Off. J. Am. Assoc. Cancer Res.* **14**, 1310–1316 (2008).

43. Targeting of nanoparticles in cancer: drug delivery and diagnostics. - PubMed - NCBI. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21970851/. (Accessed: 19th June 2018)

44. Morrissey, C. & Vessella, R. L. The role of tumor microenvironment in prostate cancer bone metastasis. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **101**, 873–886 (2007).

45. Leventis, P. A. & Grinstein, S. The distribution and function of phosphatidylserine in cellular membranes. *Annu. Rev. Biophys.* **39**, 407–427 (2010).

Kay, J. G., Koivusalo, M., Ma, X., Wohland, T. & Grinstein, S.
Phosphatidylserine dynamics in cellular membranes. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 23, 2198–2212 (2012).

47. Vallabhapurapu, S. D. *et al.* Variation in human cancer cell external phosphatidylserine is regulated by flippase activity and intracellular calcium. *Oncotarget* **6**, 34375–34388 (2015).

48. Hankins, H. M., Baldridge, R. D., Xu, P. & Graham, T. R. Role of flippases, scramblases, and transfer proteins in phosphatidylserine subcellular distribution. *Traffic Cph. Den.* **16**, 35–47 (2015).

49. Holthuis, J. C. M. & Levine, T. P. Lipid traffic: floppy drives and a superhighway. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **6**, 209–220 (2005).

50. Bretscher, M. S. Asymmetrical Lipid Bilayer Structure for Biological Membranes. *Nature. New Biol.* **236**, 11–12 (1972).

51. Mechanisms of phosphatidylserine exposure, a phagocyte recognition signal, on apoptotic T lymphocytes. - PubMed - NCBI. (2018). Available at:

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/7595231. (Accessed: 21st April 2018)

52. Fadok, V. A. *et al.* Exposure of phosphatidylserine on the surface of apoptotic lymphocytes triggers specific recognition and removal by macrophages. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md 1950* **148**, 2207–2216 (1992).

53. Koopman, G. *et al.* Annexin V for flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on B cells undergoing apoptosis. *Blood* 84, 1415–1420 (1994).

54. Martin, S. J. *et al.* Early redistribution of plasma membrane phosphatidylserine is a general feature of apoptosis regardless of the initiating stimulus: inhibition by overexpression of Bcl-2 and Abl. *J. Exp. Med.* **182**, 1545–1556 (1995).

55. Sharma, B. & Kanwar, S. S. Phosphatidylserine: A cancer cell targeting biomarker. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2017.08.012

56. Lentz, B. R. Exposure of platelet membrane phosphatidylserine regulates blood coagulation. *Prog. Lipid Res.* **42**, 423–438 (2003).

57. Hochreiter-Hufford, A. & Ravichandran, K. S. Clearing the dead: apoptotic cell sensing, recognition, engulfment, and digestion. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* **5**, a008748 (2013).

 Borisenko, G. G. *et al.* Macrophage recognition of externalized phosphatidylserine and phagocytosis of apoptotic Jurkat cells--existence of a threshold. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 413, 41–52 (2003).

59. Segawa, K., Suzuki, J. & Nagata, S. Constitutive exposure of phosphatidylserine on viable cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **108**, 19246–19251 (2011).

60. Riedl, S. *et al.* In search of a novel target - phosphatidylserine exposed by non-apoptotic tumor cells and metastases of malignancies with poor treatment efficacy. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **1808**, 2638–2645 (2011).

Leukeran (Chlorambucil): Side Effects, Interactions, Warning, Dosage & Uses.
 RxList Available at: https://www.rxlist.com/leukeran-drug.htm. (Accessed: 18th June 2018)

62. WHO | Essential medicines for cancer: WHO recommendations and national priorities. *WHO* doi:10.2471/BLT.15.163998

63. Chlorambucil Monograph for Professionals. *Drugs.com* Available at: https://www.drugs.com/monograph/chlorambucil.html. (Accessed: 19th June 2018)

64. Graziano, G. Hydrophobicity of benzene. *Biophys. Chem.* 82, 69–79 (1999).

65. Linford, J. H. The influence of pH on the reactivity of chlorambucil. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* **12**, 317–324 (1963).

66. Pubchem. Chlorambucil. Available at:

https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/2708. (Accessed: 20th July 2018)

67. Bernier, L. G., Gaudreault, R. C., Page, M. & Joly, L. P. Fluorescence determination of microconcentrations of chlorambucil after photoactivation. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **73**, 1157–1158 (1984).

68. Di Antonio, M., McLuckie, K. I. E. & Balasubramanian, S. Reprogramming the Mechanism of Action of Chlorambucil by Coupling to a G-Quadruplex Ligand. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **136**, 5860–5863 (2014).

69. Owen, W. R. & Stewart, P. J. Kinetics and Mechanism of Chlorambucil Hydrolysis. *J. Pharm. Sci.* **68**, 992–996 (1979).

70. Silvennoinen, R., Malminiemi, K., Malminiemi, O., Seppälä, E. & Vilpo, J. Pharmacokinetics of chlorambucil in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: comparison of different days, cycles and doses. *Pharmacol. Toxicol.* **87**, 223–228 (2000).

71. Alberts, D. S., Chang, S. Y., Chen, H.-S. G., Larcom, B. J. & Jones, S. E.
Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of chlorambucil in man: a preliminary report. *Cancer Treat. Rev.* 6, 9–17 (1979).

Newell, D. R., Calvert, A. H., Harrap, K. R. & McElwain, T. J. Studies on the pharmacokinetics of chlorambucil and prednimustine in man. *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.* 15, 253–258 (1983).

73. Roberts, J. J. Inactivation of the DNA template in HeLa cells treated with chlorambucil. *Int. J. Cancer* **16**, 91–102 (1975).

Yaghi, B. M. *et al.* Comparative mutational spectra of the nitrogen mustard chlorambucil and its half-mustard analogue in Chinese hamster AS52 cells. *Mutat. Res.*401, 153–164 (1998).

75. Speit, G., Menz, W., Röscheisen, C. & Köberle, B. Cytogenetic and molecular characterization of the mutagenicity of chlorambucil in V79 cells. *Mutat. Res.* **283**, 75–81 (1992).

76. Moore, F. R., Urda, G. A., Krishna, G. & Theiss, J. C. An in vivo/in vitro method for assessing micronucleus and chromosome aberration induction in rat bone marrow and spleen. 2. Studies with chlorambucil and mitomycin C. *Mutat. Res.* **335**, 201–206 (1995).

77. Parkins, C. S., Chadwick, J. A. & Chaplin, D. J. Inhibition of intracellular pH control and relationship to cytotoxicity of chlorambucil and vinblastine. *Br. J. Cancer. Suppl.* **27**, S75–S77 (1996).

78. COMPARTMENTS - ANXA5. Available at:

https://compartments.jensenlab.org/Entity?figures=subcell_cell_%&knowledge=10&tex tmining=10&experiments=10&predictions=10&type1=9606&type2=-

22&id1=ENSP00000296511. (Accessed: 31st August 2018)

Huber, R., Schneider, M., Mayr, I., Römisch, J. & Paques, E. P. The calcium binding sites in human annexin V by crystal structure analysis at 2.0 A resolution.
Implications for membrane binding and calcium channel activity. *FEBS Lett.* 275, 15–21 (1990).

Oling, F., Bergsma-Schutter, W. & Brisson, A. Trimers, dimers of trimers, and trimers of trimers are common building blocks of annexin a5 two-dimensional crystals.
 J. Struct. Biol. 133, 55–63 (2001).

81. Kenis, H. *et al.* Cell surface-expressed phosphatidylserine and annexin A5 open a novel portal of cell entry. *J. Biol. Chem.* **279**, 52623–52629 (2004).

82. Boesen, E. & Davis, W. *Cytotoxic Drugs in the Treatment of Cancer*. (Hodder & Stoughton Educational, 1969).

 Linford, J. H., Hryniuk, W. & Israels, L. G. Adsorption to human red blood cells of chlorambucil and other biological alkylating agents. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 18, 2723– 2735 (1969).

84. Thomas, A., Teicher, B. A. & Hassan, R. Antibody-drug conjugates for cancer therapy. *Lancet Oncol.* **17**, e254–e262 (2016).

Smyth, M. J., Pietersz, G. A., Classon, B. J. & McKenzie, I. F. C. Specific
 Targeting of Chlorambucil to Tumors With the Use of Monoclonal Antibodies. *JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 76, 503–510 (1986).

86. Hillmen, P. *et al.* Rituximab Plus Chlorambucil As First-Line Treatment for Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: Final Analysis of an Open-Label Phase II Study. *J. Clin. Oncol.* **32**, 1236–1241 (2014).

87. Klein, C., Bacac, M., Umana, P. & Fingerle-Rowson, G. Combination therapy with the type II anti-CD20 antibody obinutuzumab. *Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs* **26**, 1145–1162 (2017).

Ghose, T., Path, M. R. C. & Nigam, S. P. Antibody as carrier of chlorambucil.
 Cancer 29, 1398–1400 (1972).

89. Tung, E. *et al.* Cytotoxic effect of anti-idiotype antibody-chlorambucil conjugates against human lymphoblastoid cells. *Immunology* **50**, 57–64 (1983).

90. Immunochemotherapy of cancer with chlorambucil-carrying antibody. PubMed - NCBI. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4560726.
(Accessed: 16th August 2018)

91. Omoomi, F. D. *et al.* Molecular Chlorambucil-Methionine Conjugate: Novel Anti-cancer Agent against Breast MCF-7 Cell Model. *J. Cancer Sci. Ther.* 075–084 (2013). doi:10.4172/1948-5956.1000188

92. Holley, J. L. *et al.* Targeting of Tumor Cells and DNA by a Chlorambucil-Spermidine Conjugate. *Cancer Res.* **52**, 4190–4195 (1992).

93. Miot-Noirault, E. *et al.* Preclinical investigation of tolerance and antitumour activity of new fluorodeoxyglucose-coupled chlorambucil alkylating agents. *Invest. New Drugs* **29**, 424–433 (2011).

94. Shafiee Ardestani, M. *et al.* Chlorambucil-Asparagine, a Novel Chemotherapeutic Agent. *Middle East J. Sci. Res.* **21**, 320–327 (2014).

95. Zhang, K. & Wong, K. P. Glutathione conjugation of chlorambucil: measurement and modulation by plant polyphenols. *Biochem. J.* **325**, 417–422 (1997).

96. Fan, M. *et al.* Chlorambucil gemcitabine conjugate nanomedicine for cancer therapy. *Eur. J. Pharm. Sci.* **79**, 20–26 (2015).

97. Carbodiimide Crosslinker Chemistry - US. Available at:

https://www.thermofisher.com/us/en/home/life-science/protein-biology/protein-biologylearning-center/protein-biology-resource-library/pierce-protein-methods/carbodiimidecrosslinker-chemistry.html. (Accessed: 11th October 2018)

98. N-Hydroxysuccinimide Esters in Peptide Synthesis - Journal of the AmericanChemical Society (ACS Publications). Available at:

https://pubs.acs.org/doi/abs/10.1021/ja00902a047. (Accessed: 21st August 2018)

99. Palwai, N. R. Targeting fusion proteins containing L-methioninase to cancer cells. (2007).

100. Andersen, K. R., Leksa, N. C. & Schwartz, T. U. Optimized E. coli expression strain LOBSTR eliminates common contaminants from His-tag purification. *Proteins* 81, 1857–1861 (2013).

101. Suderman, R. J., Rice, D. A., Gibson, S. D., Strick, E. J. & Chao, D. M.
Development of polyol-responsive antibody mimetics for single-step protein
purification. *Protein Expr. Purif.* 134, 114–124 (2017).

102. DuPré, S. A., Redelman, D. & Hunter, K. W. The mouse mammary carcinoma
4T1: characterization of the cellular landscape of primary tumours and metastatic
tumour foci. *Int. J. Exp. Pathol.* 88, 351–360 (2007).

103. Pulaski, B. A. & Ostrand-Rosenberg, S. Mouse 4T1 breast tumor model. *Curr.Protoc. Immunol.* Chapter 20, Unit 20.2 (2001).

104. Yang, S., Zhang, J. J. & Huang, X.-Y. Mouse Models for Tumor Metastasis. *Methods Mol. Biol. Clifton NJ* **928**, 221–228 (2012).

105. Determination of a humane endpoint in the L1210 model of murine leukemia. PubMed - NCBI. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11958599.
(Accessed: 20th September 2018)

106. Neves, L. F. F. et al. Targeting single-walled carbon nanotubes for the treatment

of breast cancer using photothermal therapy. *Nanotechnology* 24, 375104 (2013).

107. Schiffman, F. J., Uehara, Y., Fisher, J. M. & Rabinovitz, M. Potentiation of chlorambucil activity by phenylbutazone. *Cancer Lett.* **4**, 211–216 (1978).

Neuman, H. B. *et al.* Stage IV Breast Cancer in the Era of Targeted Therapy.
 Cancer 116, 1226–1233 (2010).

109. Leone, B. A. *et al.* Stage IV breast cancer: clinical course and survival of patients with osseous versus extraosseous metastases at initial diagnosis. The GOCS (Grupo Oncológico Cooperativo del Sur) experience. *Am. J. Clin. Oncol.* 11, 618–622 (1988).

110. Wu, S.-G. *et al.* The survival benefits of local surgery in stage IV breast cancer are not affected by breast cancer subtypes: a population-based analysis. *Oncotarget* **8**, 67851–67860 (2017).

111. Bishop, A. J. *et al.* Prognosis for patients with metastatic breast cancer who achieve 'no-evidence-of-disease' status after systemic or local therapy. *Cancer* 121, 4324–4332 (2015).

Bank, B. B. Studies of chlorambucil—DNA adducts. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 44, 571–575 (1992).

113. Zhang, X. *et al.* Anti-cancer activity of Annexin V in murine melanoma model by suppressing tumor angiogenesis. *Oncotarget* **8**, 42602–42612 (2017).

114. Annexin V-TRAIL fusion protein is a more sensitive and potent apoptotic inducer for cancer therapy | Scientific Reports. Available at:

https://www.nature.com/articles/srep03565. (Accessed: 20th September 2018)

115. Chemotherapy Side Effects. Available at:

https://www.cancer.org/treatment/treatments-and-side-effects/treatment-

types/chemotherapy/chemotherapy-side-effects.html. (Accessed: 14th June 2018)

116. Tumor Models in Cancer Research | SpringerLink. Available at:

https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-1-60761-968-0. (Accessed: 20th September 2018)

117. Shi, J. *et al.* Lactadherin detects early phosphatidylserine exposure on immortalized leukemia cells undergoing programmed cell death. *Cytom. Part J. Int. Soc. Anal. Cytol.* 69, 1193–1201 (2006).

118. Hew, J., Pham, D., Matthews Hew, T. & Minocha, V. A Novel Treatment With Obinutuzumab-Chlorambucil in a Patient With B-Cell Prolymphocytic Leukemia: A Case Report and Review of the Literature. *J. Investig. Med. High Impact Case Rep.* **6**, (2018).

 Lahiri, J., Isaacs, L., Tien, J. & Whitesides, G. M. A Strategy for the Generation of Surfaces Presenting Ligands for Studies of Binding Based on an Active Ester as a Common Reactive Intermediate: A Surface Plasmon Resonance Study. *Anal. Chem.* 71, 777–790 (1999).

120. EMT-6 Syngeneic Breast Tumor Model – A Powerful Tool for Immuno-Oncology Studies. *MI Bioresearch* Available at:

https://www.mibioresearch.com/knowledge-center/emt-6-syngeneic-breast-tumormodel-a-powerful-tool-for-immuno-oncology-studies/. (Accessed: 19th September 2018)

121. Nath, K. *et al.* Comparison of the Lonidamine Potentiated Effect of Nitrogen Mustard Alkylating Agents on the Systemic Treatment of DB-1 Human Melanoma Xenografts in Mice. *PLOS ONE* **11**, e0157125 (2016).

122. Targeting CD20 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *ONA* (2015). Available at: https://www.oncologynurseadvisor.com/publishers-alliance/targeting-cd20-in-chroniclymphocytic-leukemia/article/412565/. (Accessed: 27th September 2018)

123. Holliday, D. L. & Speirs, V. Choosing the right cell line for breast cancer research. *Breast Cancer Res. BCR* **13**, 215 (2011).

74

124. Drugs Approved for Breast Cancer. *National Cancer Institute* (2017). Available at: https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/treatment/drugs/breast. (Accessed: 13th September 2017)

125. Krais, J. J. *et al.* Antitumor Synergism and Enhanced Survival with a Tumor
Vasculature-Targeted Enzyme Prodrug System, Rapamycin, and Cyclophosphamide. *Mol. Cancer Ther.* molcanther.0263.2016 (2017). doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-160263

126. McKernan, P. Therapeutic Applications of Bioconjugates in Human Disease.(2018).

Appendix A: Chlorambucil-Annexin Conjugate

- Day before starting, autoclave the following items: _
 - 1 liter LB medium _
 - 4 x 1 liter Erlenmeyer flask (with aluminum foil on top)_
 - 125 ml Erlenmeyer flask (with aluminum foil on top)
 - 100 ml beaker (with aluminum foil on top)
 - All size tips_
 - 1.5 ml centrifuge tubes (like 100)
 - 1 liter DI water

Protein Expression_

Day 1 -9:00 pm

1. Culture 5 μ l of *E. coli* BL21(DE3) harboring pET303CT with the fusion gene AV in 10 ml of LB medium containing 35 μ g/ml kanamycin in a 125 ml Erlenmeyer flask overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm.

• LB medium: 1 liter DI $H_2O + 10$ g Tryptone + 5 g Yeast Extract + 5 g NaCl.

• Add 35 mg kanamycin to the 1 L of LB medium before taking out the 10 ml for the initial culture.

Incubate.

<u>Day 2 - 9:00 am</u>

2. Add 10 ml of the cell culture to 1 liter of fresh culture medium and kanamycin and incubate at 37°C with shaking (200 rpm). Take 1.5 mL of medium before adding the bacteria, as a blank. This cell culture was grown to mid-log phase => $OD_{600} = 0.5$.

• Take a 1.5 ml sample of just the LB medium. Label 1.5 ml tube 'LB.'

- Transfer 10 mL of bacteria to 1 L LB medium.
- Transfer entire volume of medium to 4 x 1 L flasks.
- Put in shaker at 37° C at 200 rpm.

• After 1.5 hours of shaking, measure optical density at 600 nm (absorbance) using a clear 96 well plate and microtiter plate reader of sample vs LB medium => using 250 μ l samples of each. When OD_{600nm} = 0.5, then proceed to the next step.

<u>Day 2 –2:45 pm</u>

3. Addisopropyl Alpha-D-thiogalactopyranoside to a final concentration of 0.4 mM to solutions in 4 x 1 L flasks and incubate at 30° C with shaking (180 rpm) for 5 h to induce protein expression.

- Take 750 ml sample of solution before adding IPTG.
- Add 24 mg IPTG to each flask.
- Put back in shaker at 30°C for 5 hours.
- IPTG stimulates the production of fusion protein.

<u>Day 2 – 7:45 pm</u>

- 4. Harvest the cells by centrifugation for 10 min at 1000 x g, at 4°C.
 - Take 750 ml sample before centrifuge.
 - Centrifuge at 1000xg = 3000 rpm
 - Only 4 50 ml centrifuge tubes at a time, temp 4° C, 10 mins.

• After first centrifuge, pour out supernatant, add more culture to same 4 tubes. Bacteria will be stuck to side of tubes so inverting to pour out is not a problem.

• Can put the 4 tubes in -20°C freezer for overnight storage.

<u>Day 3 – 10 am</u>

- 5. Resuspend the cell pellet in 40 ml of sonication buffer.
 - \circ Add ~10 ml to each of the 4 centrifuge tubes.
 - Vortex to resuspend cell pellets.
 - Pour contents of the 4 tubes back into the 100 ml beaker.
 - <u>Sonication Buffer</u>
 - 0.05 mM N- *p*-tosyl-L-phenylalanine chloromethyl ketone (TPCK)
 - 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF)
 - 1% HPLC ethanol
 - 0.01% βmercaptoethanol
 - 0.02 M sodium phosphate dibasic
 - 40 mL DI

• Dissolve TPCK and PMSF in ethanol in microcentrifuge tube, then add to beaker.

- Make this buffer in the 100 ml beaker.
- Correct to pH 7.4

6. Lyse the cells by sonication at 4°C for 30 sec at 4.5 watts then allow it to cool for 30 sec on ice. This cycle was repeated 4 times for a total sonication time of 2.5 min on power level 4.

- Clean sonicator tip with ethanol before use.
- Put beaker in tub with ice while sonicating.

7. Centrifuge the lysate obtained at $12,000 \ge g$ for 30 min to remove the cell debris and take the supernatant.

- Pour beaker contents into 1 purple VWR 50 ml centrifuge tube.
- Centrifuge at 12000xg for 30 mins
- Take 750 µl sample after centrifuging.

Protein Purification

<u>Day 3 – 12 pm</u>

8. After taking supernatant sample, add Imidazole (40 mM) and NaCl (500 mM) to the lysate to reduce non-specific protein binding.

- 40 mM imidazole
- 500 mMNaCl

9. Equilibrate a 5 ml HisTrap chromatography column with immobilized Ni⁺²using Wash Buffer 1.

• Feed wash buffer thru column until the output reaches baseline, then feed lysate thru at -8.00

• Turn on detector.

 \circ Turn on drop former – mode 0, rack 1, size 2, last tube 100, min 4, delay 0.

- <u>WASH BUFFER 1</u> (500 mL) (- 30 min)
 - 20 mMsodium phosphate dibasic
 - 40 mM imidazole
 - 500 mMNaCl
 - Correct this to pH 7.4
- 10. Feed the soluble protein fraction into the column.

11. Wash the column with 70 column volumes of Wash Buffer 2 to remove unwanted proteins and endotoxin (250 ml).

- Collect flow thru contains unwanted proteins '
- $\circ \qquad \underline{\text{WASH BUFFER 2}} (300 \text{ mL}) (-1.5 \text{ hours})$
 - 20 mM sodium phosphate dibasic
 - 40 mM imidazole
 - 500 mMNaCl
 - 0.1% Trition X-114
 - Correct this to pH 7.4

12. Wash the column with 20 column volumes of Wash Buffer 1 to wash the protein until the pen reaches the baseline (100 ml). (- 40 min)

- Collect flow thru contains unwanted proteins
- 13. Elute the protein using elution buffer.
 - Collect the elution contains our FP
 - <u>ELUTION BUFFER</u> (300 mL)
 - 20 mM sodium phosphate dibasic
 - 500 mMimidazole
 - 500 mMNaCl
 - Correct this to pH 7

14. Dialyze eluted protein for 3 hours against 2 liters of dialysis buffer containing 20 mM sodium phosphate at pH 7.4 to remove NaCl and imidazole from the protein solution and make it suitable for C-terminal His-tag cleavage.

- <u>DIALYSIS 1 BUFFER</u> (2 L)
 - 20 mMsodium phosphate dibasic
 - Adjust to pH 7.4
- After dialysis, put back in a 50 ml centrifuge tube.
- 15. Before continuing, need to regenerate the column using this procedure:
 - 25 ml of 1 M KCl
 - 25 ml of 1 M NaOH

- 25 ml of DI Water
- 25 ml of 1 M HPLC Grade Ethanol
- 16. Measure the concentration of protein (Bradford Protein assay).

Add 30 ml DI Water to tube with cell pellet.

17. Cleave the C-terminal His-tag by adding HRV 3C protease at 10 U/mg of protein with the recommended 10 X buffer provided. Incubate for 16 h at 4° C at 30 rpm.

• Add HRV 3C protease. HRV 3C protease comes as $2 \text{ U/}\mu\text{l}$ and we want to use it at 10 U/mg protein.

<u>Day 4 – 10 am</u>

•

0

18. Equilibrate the HisTrap column with Wash Buffer 1.

• Feed thru the column until baseline is reached.

Add imidazole (40 mM) and NaCl (500 mM) to the cleaved protein solution (depends on particular volume after overnight cleavage incubation).

- 40 mM imidazole
- 500 mMNaCl
- 20. Feed the solution to the HisTrap column.

• Collect first peak solution from the column is solution to dialyze. This contains our protein.

21. Feed Wash Buffer 1 into column to pull out all cleaved protein before proceeding forward.

22. Elute uncleaved protein with imidazole.

23. Dialyze purified protein for 3 hours against 2 liters of dialysis buffer.

- DIALYSIS 2 BUFFER
- 20 mM sodium phosphate dibasic
- 100 mMNaCl
- Adjust to pH 7.4
- 24. Regenerate the column as above.
- 25. Pass the sample thru a 0.2 µm cellulose-acetate filter.

26. (IF NECESSARY) Concentrate the protein using a 150 kDa, 20 ml protein concentrator (Millipore #89921).

27. Aliquot purified protein into cryovials and put in the liquid nitrogen tank prior to freeze-drying.

- 30. Perform an SDS-PAGE
 - Suspend $50 \ \mu l$ of sample + $50 \ \mu l$ loading buffer (95% Laemmli sample buffer + 5% β -mercaptoethanol).
 - For BI, centrifuge for resuspend in 100 μ l of loading buffer.

Synthesis of ANXA5-CHL

- 1. Dissolve 1000 µg of chlorambucil in 10 drops of 12 M HCL
 - Chlorambucil is insoluble at neutral pH, but dissolves readily at pHs below 5.
 - should not be stored for long periods of time in acidic solutions. Chlorambucil is unstable in acidic solutions
- 2. Dilute the mixture in 1 mL of phosphate buffer
 - *This provides a larger working volume of chlorambucil to continue downstream production.*
- 3. <u>Add 100 mg of EDC</u>
 - The EDC will bind the carboxylic groups of chlorambucil increasing their chemical reactivity towards primary amines.
- 4. Add 70 mg of suflo-NHS
 - Sulfo-NHS stabilizes the EDC activated carboxylic groups, increasing the efficiency of the chlorambucil-annexin reaction.
- 5. <u>Stir vigorously for 5 minutes</u>
- 6. Add 2 μ L of β -mercaptoethanol
 - *B-mercaptoethanol neutralizes the excess EDC and NHS preventing their interference in downstream reactions.*
- 7. <u>Immediately titrate the solution to a pH of 7.4</u>
 - *Raising the pH stabilizes the sensitive chlorambucil functional groups.*
- 8. <u>Add 10 mL of a 1 mg/ml solution of annexin in phosphate buffer</u>
 - The annexin is kept at a low concentration to prevent precipitation and crosslinking. The dilute mixture also serves to further neutralize some of the acid from step.
- 9. <u>Stir gently for 12 hours</u>
- 10. Centrifuge for 10 minutes at 12,000 G
 - Chlorambucil is not stable in neutral pH solutions and will precipitate. The precipitate is easily removed by centrifugation.
- 11. Retain the supernatant and discard the pellet
- 12. <u>Dialyze the supernatant against 2 L of phosphate buffered saline for 3 hours at 4 degrees Celsius.</u>
 - This step removes the rest of the unbound chlorambucil as well as other upstream contaminants such as β -mercaptoethanol.
- 13. Filter the dialysate using a 0.2 µm filter
- 14. <u>Immediately flash freeze under liquid nitrogen and store at -80 °C until</u> immediately before use.

Cytotoxicity Assay

Protocol:

- 1. Harvest 5 million cells from culture and dilute to a total of 25 mL with media.
- 2. Seed each well of a 96 wells plate with 180 μ L of media containing 20,000 cells
- 3. Allow cells to rest for at least 1-2 hours.
- 4. Treat groups according to experimental protocol.
- 5. In this experiment you will add 20 μ L of the Chlorambucil-DMSO per well
- 6. Incubate cells with chosen treatment for 20 hours.
- 7. Add 20 μ L of Alamar Blue solution to each well
- 8. Incubate cells with Alamar Blue for 2-4 hours to allow dye uptake.
- 9. Read the absorbance immediately at 540nm.

Supplies

•5 million cells

•DMEM with 10% horse Serum and 1 % Anti/Anti (L1210 and P388) or Waymouth's medium and L-glutamine and fetal bovine serum (for 4T1 and EMT6 cells)

•DMSO

•Alamar Blue

•96 wells plate

•Chlorambucil Dissolved in DMSO

Synthesis of ANXA5-CHL

- 1. Dissolve 1000 µg of chlorambucil in 10 drops of 12 M HCL
 - Chlorambucil is insoluble at neutral pH, but dissolves readily at pHs below 5.
 - should not be stored for long periods of time in acidic solutions. Chlorambucil is unstable in acidic solutions
- 2. <u>Dilute the mixture in 1 mL of phosphate buffer</u>
 - This provides a larger working volume of chlorambucil to continue downstream production.
- 3. <u>Add 100 mg of EDC</u>
 - The EDC will bind the carboxylic groups of chlorambucil increasing their chemical reactivity towards primary amines.
- 4. Add 70 mg of suflo-NHS
 - Sulfo-NHS stabilizes the EDC activated carboxylic groups, increasing the efficiency of the chlorambucil-annexin reaction.
- 5. <u>Stir vigorously for 5 minutes</u>
- 6. Add 2 μ L of β -mercaptoethanol
 - β-mercaptoethanol neutralizes the excess EDC and NHS preventing their interference in downstream reactions.
- 7. <u>Immediately titrate the solution to a pH of 7.4</u>
 - *Raising the pH stabilizes the sensitive chlorambucil functional groups.*
- 8. <u>Add 10 mL of a 1 mg/ml solution of annexin in phosphate buffer</u>
 - The annexin is kept at a low concentration to prevent precipitation and crosslinking. The dilute mixture also serves to further neutralize some of the acid from step.
- 9. <u>Stir gently for 12 hours</u>
- 10. Centrifuge for 10 minutes at 12,000 G
 - Chlorambucil is not stable in neutral pH solutions and will precipitate. The precipitate is easily removed by centrifugation.
- 11. Retain the supernatant and discard the pellet
- 12. <u>Dialyze the supernatant against 2 L of phosphate buffered saline for 3 hours at 4 degrees Celsius.</u>
 - This step removes the rest of the unbound chlorambucil as well as other upstream contaminants such as -mercaptoethanol.
- 13. Filter the dialysate using a 0.2 µm filter
- 14. Immediately flash freeze under liquid nitrogen and store at -80 °C until immediately before use.

Spectroscopy of chlorambucil



Figure 21: Chlorambucil absorbance.

Chlorambucil has strong absorbance at UV wavelengths. Pictured above are the spectra for serial dilutions of chlorambucil. ([Chlorambucil]_{starting} = 10 mg/ml; serial dilutions by half). Chlorambucil was diluted in a solution with 50 % of DMSO.





Despite strong absorbance peaks in the UV range, an unknown concentration of chlorambucil can not be determined with absorbance spectroscopy in samples containing protein. When chlorambucil is in the presence of protein, the absorption spectra of the chlorambucil – protein conjugate is dominated by that of the aromatic amino acids of the protein